Associations Between the Presence or Absence of a Lifetime History of Prostate Cancer Diagnosis and Current Mental Health Issues in a Sample of Canadian Men: A Secondary Analysis of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA)

by

Louise Alexandra Moodie

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2019

© Copyright by Louise Alexandra Moodie 2019

Dedication

This is dedicated to the members of the Catholic congregation at the Veterans' Memorial Hospital for their prayers and patience as I completed my thesis.

I also want to express my gratitude to Saint Jude and Saint Anthony for their intercessions.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Abstract	vii
List of Abbreviations Used	vii
Acknowledgements	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Background	6
2.1 Overview	6
2.2 Mental Health Among Men with Prostate Cancer	6
2.3 Multimorbidity and Mental Health	8
2.4 Substance Use and Mental Health	10
2.5 Aging and Mental Health	
Chapter 3: Objectives	16
Prostate Cancer Diagnosis and Current Mental Health Issues in Men: A Secondary Analysis of the Canadian Longitudinal Stud	-
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Methods	20
4.2.1 Study Sample	20
4.2.2 Mental Health	21
4.2.3 Exposure Variables	23
4.2.4 Covariates	25
4.2.5 Statistical Analysis	25
4.3 Results	27
4.4 Discussion	30
Chapter 5: Conclusion	50
5.1 Limitations	53
5.2 Strangelog	55

5.3 Implications for future research and clinicians	56
1	
References	59

List of Tables

Table 4.3.1 Weighted and unweighted estimates with 95% CI of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis by demographic characteristics for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 (N = 25 183)
Table 4.3.2 Estimates of psychological distress, as measured by K10, by lifetime history of PCa for Canadian men from the Comprehensive cohort during the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 ($N = 14\ 777$)
Table 4.3.3 Estimates of depressive symptoms, as measured by CES-D 10, by lifetime history of PCa diagnosis for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, $2010-2015$ (N = $25\ 183$)
Table 4.3.4 Estimates of self-rated mental health (SRMH) by lifetime history of PCa diagnosis for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 (N = 25 183)
Table 4.3.5 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of current (past 30 days) psychological distress, as measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity
Table 4.3.6 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of current depressive symptoms, as measured by CES-D 10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity
Table 4.3.7 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of poor self-rated mental health (SRMH), by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity
Table 4.3.8 Multivariate logistic regression, using listwise deletion, predicting current psychological distress, measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity

Table 4.3.9 Multivariate logistic regression, using multiple imputation, predicting curren psychological distress, measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity
Table 4.3.10 Multivariate logistic regression predicting depressive symptoms, measured by CESD-10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity
Table 4.3.11 Multivariate logistic regression predicting poor self-rated mental health (SRMH), by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity

Abstract

The present study examined the prevalence of lifetime history of prostate cancer (PCa) in a cross-sectional sample of Canadian men (N = 25, 183) and investigated the contribution of presence or absence of history of a PCa diagnosis to current mental health outcomes. This study used baseline data from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (2010-2015). Logistic regression analyses, controlled for the complexity of the design, demographics, and lifestyle factors, evaluated the association between history of a lifetime PCa diagnosis and current mental health outcomes. The prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis in this sample was 4% (95% CI: 3.7, 4.4). Our results indicate statistically significantly greater odds of psychological distress (aOR= 1.52, 95% CI: 1.09, 2.11) and depressive symptoms (aOR = 1.24, 95% CI: 1.02, 1.51) among Canadian men who self-reported a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis, compared to men with no history of a PCa diagnosis, even when multimorbidity and substance use were statistically controlled.

List of Abbreviations Used

PCa – Prostate Cancer

CLSA – Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

SRMH – Self-Rated Mental Health

QoL – Quality of Life

ADT – Androgen Deprivation Therapy

ED – Erectile Dysfunction

CCHS – Canadian Community Health Survey

WHO – World Health Organization

MI – Multiple Imputation

PCaPRO – Prostate Cancer Patient-Reported Outcomes

DSM – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual

MCMC - Markov Chain Monte Carlo

FSC – Fully Conditional Specification

Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to my committee, Dr. Gabriela Ilie, Dr. Susan Kirkland, Dr. Pantelis Andreou, and Dr. Rob Rutledge, for their encouragement and guidance throughout this process. To Gabriela, your passion, optimism and knowledge formed my guiding light through this journey – it is beyond fitting that you are the Soillse (Gaelic: brightness, light) Scientist in Prostate Cancer Research.

Thank you to my classmates, especially the two other "Musketeers", Melissa Carpino and Chloé Blackman, for their encouragement and endless support throughout the highs and lows of this project.

Finally, I am forever grateful to my family and friends. To my Dad, Doug, who taught me that nothing that is easy is worth doing. My mother, Maurina, and grandmother, Geneva, who taught me that faith is both humbling and grounding. My sister, Isabelle, for being honest at times when no one else was. My boyfriend, Luke, for his patience and kindness when I needed it the most. And to Ernie and Penny, my emotional support minidachshunds for their unconditional love and cuddles.

"Never doubt that you are valuable, powerful and deserving of every chance and opportunity in the world to pursue and achieve your own dreams." - HRC

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most common form of non-skin cancer among Canadian males. In 2017, 21% of all new diagnosed cancer cases were PCa and, on average, 58 Canadian men were diagnosed with PCa every day (1,2). Among all cancers currently affecting Canadian men, PCa has the highest incidence (2). Research indicates that 1 in 7 Canadian men will develop PCa during their lifetime (1,3). The incidence of PCa increases faster with age than any other major cancer; and, therefore, PCa is a disease associated with aging (3). About 97% of all PCa is diagnosed in men 50 years of age and older; 60% occur in men over 65 (4,5). The majority of PCa patients will become long-term survivors (>5 years), with over 70% of patients expected to live 10 years or more from the time of diagnosis (6).

The prevalence of PCa is projected to increase due to a burgeoning older population – the number of adults over the age of 65 is expected to represent between 23%-25% of the total population by 2036 (7). This increasing prevalence, combined with the cumulative number of years men live post-diagnosis, is bound to pose significant challenges to our healthcare system. In 2008, Courneya et al. analyzed data from the 2005 Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) to provide population-based estimates of cancer prevalence for the Canadian population. They found the prevalence of history of PCa cancer to be 1.3% among adults aged 18 to 65 (N = 114, 355) (8). In a forthcoming report, the prevalence estimate of history of PCa diagnosis in Atlantic Canada (2009-2015) was found to be 4% (males aged 49-69) (9). This suggests an increase in lifetime prevalence of history of PCa diagnosis in the last 10 years, however

comparisons between these estimates cannot be made due to differences between the two studies in both the age range and the surveillance time period assessed.

Recently, there has been increasing interest in mental health outcomes of the PCa survivor population. Fervaha et al. (2019) provided a focused review on depression and PCa aimed at educating clinicians on the prevalence of depression within this population. According to Fervaha, 1 in 6 men with a PCa diagnosis will experience clinically significant depression (10). Several studies have suggested that PCa patients are at increased risk for mental health issues such as depression, anxiety and suicide (6,11). Watts et al. (2014) reviewed 27 studies and their findings suggest that the prevalence of depression and anxiety in men with PCa is elevated in comparison to the general population (6). Their reported prevalence rates identified for pre-treatment, on-treatment and post-treatment were 17.3%, 14.7% and 18.4%, respectively; and anxiety prevalence rates were 27%, 15% and 18%, respectively (6). In comparison, the prevalence of clinical depression and anxiety in general population men aged over 65 years is estimated to be less than 9% and 6%, respectively (6). Watts et al. included studies from several different countries, including Germany, Sweden, USA and Holland. Two Canadian papers were included in their analysis: Savard (2005) and Hervouet (2005), and they had the two largest sample sizes (327 and 861, respectively) out of the 27 journal articles that met inclusion criteria for entry (6). Hervouet (2005) found that the prevalence rates of clinical levels of depression and anxiety were 17% and 23.7%, respectively, within their sample of patients with diverse stages and treatments (12). In comparison to the general Canadian population, approximately 8% and 5% of Canadian adults are expected to experience depression and anxiety, respectively, at some time in their lives (13).

Overall, it is well-accepted in the literature that there is above-average occurrence of depression among PCa patients and survivors, as supported by recent reviews and meta-analyses (6,10). However, several researchers, as well as the American Society of Clinical Oncology, have called for additional population-based studies to better understand mental health outcomes among the PCa population (6,14).

Multimorbidity, usually defined as the co-occurrence of two or more chronic conditions within a person, is becoming the norm rather than the exception (15,16). The link between multimorbidity and mental health has already been well documented in the literature, and has been shown to be positively related with age (17,18). Rice et al (2018) examined male-specific depression symptoms in men with a diagnosis of PCa for those with and without multimorbidity. They found a consistent pattern of higher scores for major depression symptoms for those men with PCa reporting multimorbidities, such as cardiovascular disease and arthritis (19). When multimorbidity is high at PCa diagnosis, physicians are more cautious about active treatment due to concerns that compounding effects of treatment and multimorbidities could increase patients' risk of mortality (20,21). Matthes (2018) found that age is a stronger predictor of PCa treatment choice than additional morbidities, but morbidities have a larger influence on mortality (22). Given the known association between multimorbidity and mental health within cancer populations (17,18,23), and multimorbidity's growing importance in PCa treatment choice (22), we consider it critical to examine this factor in relation to mental health issues in Canadian men with a lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis.

Furthermore, the stress caused by a PCa diagnosis and the side effects caused by active forms of treatment can exacerbate unhealthy behaviours, such as alcohol

consumption and smoking (24). Smoking has been shown to be associated with mental health conditions such as depression, as well as with alcohol use (25). Han (2017) found that stress and depressive symptoms were associated with smoking, alcohol consumption, number of chronic conditions and unmet needs for healthcare in cancer survivors (26). Continued substance use can complicate treatment, increase risk for further malignancy and contribute to secondary health problems such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes for cancer patients and survivors (24). Therefore, it is particularly important to examine the contributions of these factors in relation to mental health outcomes in this population.

Our study used a national, cross-sectional sample of adult men ages 49-86 from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). This project will contribute substantially to our understanding of the adverse health conditions associated with mental health outcomes in survivors of PCa, in addition to fulfilling the CSLA's strategic objective of attempting to understand why some people age in a healthy fashion while others do not. Furthermore, it will contribute to the evidence needed to inform the implementation of prevention strategies to help improve quality of life (QoL) of PCa survivors, such as routine screening for mental health issues as well as the adoption of multi-disciplinary teams for PCa care. Evidence gained from this research could lend support to the development and adoption of innovative, holistic intervention programs that have the potential to address the depression risk in this population (9).

This thesis examines the prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and the association between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and mental health outcomes – depressive symptomology, psychological distress and self-rated mental health.

Secondarily, we assess whether holding constant the contribution of multimorbidity and

substance use changes the association between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and mental health outcomes. The thesis is divided into a background review (Chapter 2), objective (Chapter 3), one manuscript (Chapter 4) and a general conclusion (Chapter 5). The background review examines the previous findings on PCa, multimorbidity and substance use in relation to mental health outcomes in men. The manuscript examines the associations between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis, multimorbidity, substance use and mental health outcomes among Canadian men. The concluding chapter summarizes the findings, considers strengths and limitations, and discusses the implications for both future research and policy.

CHAPTER 2 BACKGROUND

2.1 OVERVIEW

While aging is not synonymous with the development of chronic disease, many older people live with conditions that impact their QoL. Improvements in early detection techniques and treatments have shifted the view of PCa from that of a terminal illness to a chronic condition. Although PCa is a serious disease, most men diagnosed with PCa do not die from it. It is widely accepted that rates of mood and anxiety disorders are higher among older adults with multiple chronic conditions. However, little is known about how multimorbidity and substance use impact mental health outcomes among Canadian men with a lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis. Thus, assessing the contribution of multimorbidity and substance use to the relationship between a history of a PCa diagnosis and mental health issues in this population of older Canadian adults, fills an important gap in the literature. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to assess these associations in a large national population dataset and also report on the prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis among older Canadian adults since 2005 (8)

2.2 MENTAL HEALTH AMONG MEN WITH PROSTATE CANCER

Despite the increased focus on disease-specific health-related QoL among men with PCa, mental health is an aspect of PCa care that is largely overlooked (10,27,28). Primarily, this is the case because the biomedical model focuses on treating the disease rather than the whole person. The recognition and diagnosis of mental illness in older individuals, and specifically in patients with cancer, is challenging (29). Yet, depression and anxiety occur at an increased rate in cancer populations, including among PCa survivors (10,11,30–32). For example, Steginga et al. (2004) found that 60% of men with PCa

experience some form of psychological distress, a well-known precursor to development of mental health issues (30). The Watts et al. (2014) meta-analysis included 27 studies with a pooled sample size of over 4000 PCa patients with either localized or advanced disease, and estimated a prevalence rate of clinically significant depression between 15% and 18% (6). However, other research has found the prevalence of depressive symptomology in patients diagnosed with PCa ranging from 16%-30% (33,34). Younger patients (<65) with PCa, when compared to those over 65, have been noted to have higher rates of depression, anxiety and psychological distress (35,36). These findings have been supported by the preliminary results from the Prostate Cancer Patient Reported Outcomes (PCaPRO) Maritime Survey, which found that 13.7% and 17.1%, of Nova Scotian PCa survivors (N=108) in the 47-65 age category, reported depression distress and anxiety distress, respectively (37).

Depression and anxiety among cancer patients, including PCa patients, have been shown to contribute to treatment noncompliance and poorer long-term treatment outcomes (6,32,38). Men with PCa and a depression diagnosis are more likely to experience worse overall QoL, oncological outcomes and survival (39). Depressed men were found to be less likely to undergo definitive therapy (surgery or radiation), and they experienced worse overall mortality (39). Furthermore, higher risks of depression (6,10,40), anxiety (6,40), and suicide (41,42) are often reported among men with a history of PCa, and the development of mental illness among survivors has been shown to increase rates of emergency department usage, hospitalization, and mortality (43). The heightened risk of depression for this population is hypothesized to be related to unmet psychosocial needs, PCa-related symptoms and side-effects from different treatment

modalities (44). Treatment side-effects often include urinary incontinence, sexual dysfunction, and intimacy and relationship issues (19,37,44,45). Many men with PCa suffer from additional health problems such as heart disease that may contribute to depressive symptoms (19). More and better information regarding the interaction of complex health issues within the PCa population will help clinicians and researchers better understand these issues and develop interventions that reduce their occurrence and impact.

2.3 MULTIMORBIDITY AND MENTAL HEALTH

Multimorbidity is commonly defined as the presence of two or more chronic conditions in an individual (46). Multimorbidity burden is common among older adults, including cancer patients, and is a significant predictor of poorer psychological well-being and mental health (17,18,23,47,48). Various age-related health conditions and chronic illnesses can have adverse consequences on daily functioning, independent living and, ultimately, QoL (49,50). The majority of PCa cases are diagnosed in men 65 or older. PCa is therefore likely to be concurrent with other conditions that affect older individuals. Recent literature has suggested it is important to control for multimorbidity when assessing mental health outcomes, especially in older adults (18).

Prostate cancer cells need hormones called androgens to grow. The main male androgen is testosterone. The PCa treatment modality, uses hormone therapy to either stops the body from producing testosterone or block the action of testosterone, which can slow tumor growth or shrink the tumor for a period of time. The selection of hormone therapy, also known as androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), for men with PCa is common. In their international survey of ADT use for localized PCa in 19 countries,

Liede et al. (2016) found that 38% of PCa patients (N = 76 386) received ADT (51). Hormone therapy has multiple known side-effects, including some health risks. One known risk of ADT is the thinning or weakening of bones (osteoporosis) (52). Diabetes and cardiovascular disease are already common in older men – ADT increases the risk for these diseases. Other risks include fatigue, erectile dysfunction, weight gain, liver inflammation and hot flashes (52). Therefore, the selection of hormone therapy can actually cause further morbidity among the PCa population.

The presence of chronic conditions and illnesses has been shown to result in unhappiness and distress, leading to lower QoL (53). Both the presence of elevated depressive symptoms and diagnosed clinical depression are higher among persons with some chronic conditions, such as diabetes, stroke, cardiac disease, respiratory conditions and cancer, compared with the general population (47,54). Studies of older adults have indicated that those with depressive symptoms have poorer functioning (55). In addition to poor functioning, depression can lead to the development of chronic diseases and thereby increase the utilization of medical services and healthcare costs (55). Studies of patients with early-stage PCa have suggested that those with more morbidities have lower QoL during the diagnosis and treatment period (56), but little is known about the effect of morbidities on the survivorship period.

There are few studies that specifically investigate the impact of multimorbidity on the mental health outcomes of PCa patients. Relevant studies have focused mainly on morbidities that affect sexual and urinary health, and their impact on the QoL of PCa survivors (57,58). Research has found erectile dysfunction (ED) is strongly associated with depression and significant distress in PCa survivors (58,59). ED is often the result of

side-effects from PCa treatment and/or specific chronic conditions that occur in older men such as obesity, diabetes, osteoporosis and metabolic syndromes (58). Men who simultaneously experience PCa and multimorbidity burden may perceive their sense of masculinity to be threatened, which can evoke unregulated anger and aggression in response to their compromised health (19).

A higher number of multimorbidities can negatively influence patients' mental health, including producing symptoms of anxiety and depression through poor physical functioning and increased problems in daily life (47). Monitoring the psychological status of patients with multiple morbidities is thus of utmost importance, in particular because the variability in clinical presentation and types of morbidities present may hinder the detection of psychological distress. The current study explored how multimorbidity contributes to the mental health outcomes of Canadian men with a history of a PCa diagnosis.

2.4 SUBSTANCE USE AND MENTAL HEALTH

Mental health issues and substance use problems are common concurrent disorders. The links between mental health and substance use are complex. These problems can develop independently as a result of common risk factors, or one can lead to the other as a result of self-medication or prolonged distress (60).

Substance use among elderly patients with PCa can pose unique challenges to the delivery of effective and efficient care. A study by Kuerbis et al (2014) concluded that screening for alcohol use as well as other substances among middle-aged and older adults is essential, so problematic use does not go unrecognized (61). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)-5 depression definition has been criticized

for being insufficient to comprehensively evaluate depression in men (19,62). This has led to a research focus on highlighting male-specific depressive symptoms in this population (19). Systematic reviews and population studies have echoed these critiques and have suggested the creation of a subtype of depression in men characterized by alcohol/substance use and externalizing symptoms including anger and irritability (63). This expansion of the assessment for depression may be of particular importance for PCa research.

Substance use is considered a common type of coping behaviour to reduce stress (64). It is well known that men with PCa experience high levels of stress related to diagnosis, treatment, side-effects and relapse. Prostate cancer-related side-effects such as sexual dysfunction and urinary incontinence have been shown to increase levels of psychological distress (37,65). These side-effects may contribute to adherence to harmful coping mechanisms in this population.

The literature suggests that the intersection of aging and advanced-stage disease can exacerbate substance use, leading to adverse outcomes such as psychological distress. However, there is little research on the effect of substance use on mental health outcomes in men with PCa (66). In the reviewed literature, the term "substance use" refers to the use of drugs or alcohol, and includes many substances including cigarettes, cannabis, illegal drugs, and prescription drugs. However, for the purpose of our study the term "substance use" specifically refers to alcohol and cigarettes. Alcohol is by far the most commonly-used drug by Canadians. According to the Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CTADS), in 2015 66.2% of older adults (65+) reported drinking in the past year, including 70.4% of males (67).

Alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking have long been explored as possible causes of PCa, but the research has produced controversial and contradictory results over the years due to methodological limitations (68–70). There is little research that explores the role of alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking on the mental health of men with a history of PCa.

A systematic review conducted by De Nunzio (2015) synthesized evidence of the role of cigarette smoking on PCa development and progression. Although the underlying pathophysiology remains unclear, they found that smokers had higher PCa mortality and worse outcomes after treatment (68). In a more recent review, Foerster (2018) examined data from previous studies with a total of 22 549 men with a history of PCa who had been treated with either surgery or radiation. During follow-up, compared to men who never smoked, current smokers were 40% more likely to have tumors return after treatment and more than twice as likely to have cancer spread beyond the prostate (71). The authors also found that former smoking was associated with higher risk of relapse, but not with spread or cancer-specific death, which underlines the importance of smoking cessation in improving disease outcomes (71). The evidence from both these reviews suggests that smoking-cessation counseling should be available for PCa patients, to help with physical outcomes.

Farris et al. (2018) explored post-PCa diagnosis alcohol intake and survival. They found a statistically significant increased risk of mortality with increased alcohol consumption, particularly PCa-mortality (72). Although the biological mechanisms that explain how alcohol consumption is associated with PCa-specific mortality remain

largely unknown, it is known that men who are heavy drinkers have worse survival rates than those of moderate or non-drinkers (72).

Our study looked at how substance use, specifically alcohol consumption and tobacco use, contributes to the association between poor mental health among Canadian men with or without a history of a PCa diagnosis. Our findings may support the development of depressive measurements that are more male-specific, with the potential for inclusion of substance use subtypes. Additionally, exploring substance use in this population could lead to new interventions and educational resources that address these maladaptive coping mechanisms.

2.5 AGING AND MENTAL HEALTH

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the world's population is aging rapidly. Between 2015 and 2050, the proportion of the world's older adults is estimated to double from 12% to 22% (73). This is an expected increase from 900 million to 2 billion people over the age of 60 (73). Older individuals face special physical and mental challenges that need to be recognized. With aging comes many changes and many new sources of stress, such as: declines in physical functioning which can lead to less independence; increases in chronic conditions and illnesses; losing loved ones and a decrease in socialization; and, major life transitions, including retiring, which can lead to a drop in socioeconomic status. All of these stressors can result in isolation, loneliness or psychological distress in older people (73).

Aging is an important risk factor associated with the development of multimorbidity, including PCa (74). Physical health has an impact on mental health and vice versa. For example, untreated depression in an older person with heart disease can

negatively affect their outcomes for both illnesses (73). However, aging is not the only important risk factor for the development of chronic physical conditions. Others include habits such as tobacco smoking and alcohol consumption (74). Additionally, the Geriatric Mental Health Foundation includes alcohol/substance use and long-term illness, such as cancer or heart disease, in their list of potential triggers for mental illness in older adults (75).

Mental health and physical health are fundamentally connected. Co-existing mental and physical conditions can diminish QoL, lead to longer illness duration, worse health outcomes and add to the overall burden of disability (76). This interaction generates economic costs to society in the form of lost work productivity and increased health services use (77,78). A better understanding of the links between mental and physical health in older adults is the first step in developing clinical strategies to reduce the burden of co-existing conditions, and to support the mental health of those individuals living with chronic physical conditions such as PCa with the hope of improving their QoL.

The CLSA was launched in 2010 as a unique research platform with the goal of investigating the complexities of the aging process. This landmark study of over 50, 000 Canadian residents provides researchers with data that has the potential to advance our understanding of the transitions and trajectories of aging. As our nation faces the burden of several decades of rapid population aging, the CLSA provides the data needed for interdisciplinary, population-based research that may lead to evidence-based decisions that could provide both economic and societal relief. The depth and breadth of data collected by the CLSA provides an ideal opportunity to evaluate associations between

mental health, multimorbidity and substance use patterns among older Canadian men with a history of PCa diagnosis.

CHAPTER 3 OBJECTIVES

Due to the gaps identified in the literature and in light of the extended survivorship period for PCa survivors, there is a great need to conduct research on the link between PCa diagnosis and mental health issues. We *hypothesize* that men with a history of a PCa diagnosis have more current mental health issues than their healthy counterparts. Our proposed study will add to the existing state of knowledge on the mental health of older men with and without a PCa diagnosis.

Our **first objective** is to examine the prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and the contribution of the presence or absence of history of a PCa diagnosis to current mental health outcomes, as measured by two validated scales (CES-D10 and K10) and self-rated mental health, in a national cross-sectional sample of Canadian men. This objective will be addressed by two research questions: 1) What is the prevalence of a lifetime PCa diagnosis in this national sample of Canadian older adults, and what demographic characteristics describe them? 2) Do Canadian men with a history of a PCa diagnosis have higher odds of current mental health issues compared to Canadian men without a history of a PCa diagnosis?

A **secondary objective** is to assess the role of substance use and multimorbidity in the association between current mental health outcomes and a history of a PCa diagnosis to see if together these adverse health conditions lead to a change in the odds of poor mental health among these men. The research question we will be attempting to answer is: Is the presence of a history of a PCa diagnosis associated with increased probability of poorer mental health outcomes holding constant the contribution of the presence of multimorbidity and substance use?

CHAPTER 4

Associations Between the Presence or Absence of a Lifetime History of Prostate Cancer Diagnosis and Current Mental Health Issues in a Sample of Canadian Men: A Secondary Analysis of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA)

Louise Moodie¹, Gabriela Ilie PhD^{1,2,3,4}, Susan Kirkland PhD^{1,5}, Pantelis Andreou PhD¹, Rob Rutledge MD⁴

¹ Department of Community Health and Epidemiology, Dalhousie University

² Department of Urology, Dalhousie University

Department of Psychology and Neuroscience, Dalhousie University
 Department of Radiation Oncology, Dalhousie University

⁵ Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University

4.1 Introduction

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the most commonly diagnosed cancer among Canadian men, making up an estimated 21% of all new male cancer cases (2). Currently, 1 in 7 Canadian men will be diagnosed with prostate cancer in their lifetime (2). The incidence rate of PCa increases faster with age than any other cancer. Fortunately, PCa mortality rates have been declining in most Western countries including Canada (79,80). The majority of PCa patients will become long-term survivors (>5 years), with over 70% of patients expected to live 10 years or more from the time of diagnosis (6). By 2030, Canadians aged 65 or older will make up 23% of our population (81). The rise in incidence with aging combined with the low mortality rate of PCa has important implications for the Canadian healthcare system. PCa diagnosis is often only the beginning of an array of inter-related health issues for affected men. Therefore, finding ways to improve the QoL among men with PCa is a Canadian health priority (81,82).

According to Fervaha et al. (2019), 1 in 6 men with a PCa diagnosis will experience clinically significant depression (10). A meta-analysis by Watts and colleagues found rates of depression and anxiety to be higher (across several PCa treatment phases) than those found in the general population (6). Depression and anxiety among PCa survivors have been shown to contribute to poorer long-term treatment oncological outcomes (6,32,38). Men with PCa and a depression diagnosis are more likely to experience worse overall QoL and survival (39). Depressed men were found to be less likely to undergo definitive therapy (surgery or radiation), and they experienced worse overall mortality (38,39).

Due to the increasing longevity of PCa patients, recent statistics tell us that 90% of Canadians aged 65 and over live with at least one chronic disease or condition, such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and arthritis (81). Multimorbidity is strongly associated with a range of adverse outcomes, including poor mental health outcomes (83,84). Individuals with multimorbidity have worse physical, social and psychological QoL (85). Read et al. (2017) found that depression is two to three times more likely in people with multimorbidity than in those who have no chronic physical conditions (84). There is a lack of existing evidence that explores the association between multimorbidity and mental health outcomes among PCa patients and survivors. Therefore, given that multimorbidity is well known in the literature to be associated with poorer mental health outcomes, combined with the fact that the mean number of morbidities per person increases with age, we feel it is essential to examine this factor in our exploration of mental health among men with PCa.

Additionally, the stress caused by a PCa diagnosis and the side-effects caused by active forms of treatment may lead to unhealthy coping mechanisms, such as alcohol consumption and smoking (24,64,86). These health behaviours have known associations with mental health outcomes (87,88). Smoking has been shown to be associated with mental health conditions such as depression, as well as with alcohol use in cancer survivors (25). Additionally, continued substance use can complicate treatment, increase risk for further malignancy and contribute to secondary health problems such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes for cancer patients and survivors (24). There is little research exploring the associations between alcohol use and smoking in relation to

mental health outcomes among men with PCa and, therefore, it is particularly important to examine the contributions of these factors in this population.

This study examines a large sample of older Canadian men who participated in the baseline data collection for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) between 2010-2015 with the goal of answering the following research questions:

- 1) What is the prevalence of a lifetime PCa diagnosis in this national sample of Canadian older adults and what demographic characteristics describe them?
- 2) Do Canadian men with a history of a PCa diagnosis have higher odds of current mental health issues compared to Canadian men without a history of a PCa diagnosis?
- 3) Is the presence of a history of a PCa diagnosis associated with increased probability of poorer mental health outcomes holding constant the contribution of the presence of multimorbidity and substance use?

This investigation provides the first Canadian population-based data on the relationship between history of PCa, multimorbidity, substance use, and mental health in a large sample of older Canadian adults.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Study sample

The data we used for this investigation are from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. The CLSA is a national cohort study of adults aged 45 to 85 years of age at recruitment. Slightly more than 50,000 men and women across Canada's ten provinces were recruited and assessed at baseline between 2010 and 2015. A total of 21,241 individuals participated in a telephone interview (Tracking cohort) and 30,111

individuals participated in an in-home interview (Comprehensive cohort). The current sample is based on baseline data from 25,183 men who participated in either the Tracking or Comprehensive cohorts of the CLSA. Details about CLSA design, recruitment, study procedure and measures have been described elsewhere (89).

4.2.2 Mental health

The CLSA used two validated tools to assess the construct of mental health. The Andresen short form of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D10) and Kessler's Psychological Distress Scale (K10) were used to measure constructs of emotional distress. The CLSA also included the single-item measure of self-rated mental health (SRMH). These three indicators measure different dimensions of the mental health construct: K10 is a global measure of distress based on anxiety and depressive symptoms, CES-D10 is a screening tool for depression and SRMH is a measure of one's perception of their overall mental health.

Psychological distress was measured in the CLSA Comprehensive cohort only using the K10. The K10 has been used to assess psychological distress across multiple settings and populations. Many national population surveys have successfully adopted the K10, including in the USA, Canada, and Australia (90) This tool has been translated into more languages than any other mental health tool, and has been found to be highly reliable and valid when compared to other tools for screening for mental health (90). The K10 assessment involves 10 items about a person's emotional state, asking individuals how often they felt a certain way in the last 30 days. The cut-off score for psychological distress recommended by Kessler is a score greater than or equal to 20 (91). Therefore

screening positive for distress (score \geq 20) was coded 1, and screening negative for distress (score < 20) was coded 0.

Depressive symptoms assessments were collected in both the CLSA Tracking and Comprehensive samples using the Andresen short form of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies – Depression (CES-D10) Scale. CES-D10 is a brief, self-reported, screening test for depression. It is one of the best-known instruments for identifying current (past week) symptoms of depression among community-residing older adults (89), however it is not used as a diagnostic tool for clinical depression. The CES-D10 includes ten items comprising six scales reflecting major facets of depression: depressed mood, feelings of guilt and worthlessness, feelings of helplessness and hopelessness, psychomotor retardation, loss of appetite and sleep disturbance. The cut-off score for depressive symptoms recommended by Andresen et al (1994) is a score greater than or equal to 10 (92). Screening positive for depressive symptoms (score ≥ 10) was coded 1, and screening negative for depressive symptoms (score < 10) was coded 0.

Self-rated mental health (SRMH) was assessed in both the CLSA Tracking and Comprehensive cohorts, as part of the general health module. The standard item used to measure SRMH asked "In general, would you say your mental health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?" Research suggests that SRMH measures are a good proxy for clinical criteria. Paralleling the literature on clinical mental health diagnoses, the literature highlights a positive association between "poor" self-perceived mental health status, depressive symptoms, and healthcare expenditure (93). We dichotomized SRMH to presence of poor mental health (e.g. fair and poor) coded 1, and absence of poor

mental health (e.g. excellent, very good and good) coded 0. This dichotomization is common through most SRH literature for both general health and mental health (94).

4.2.3 Exposure variables

Lifetime History of a PCa Diagnosis

History of prostate cancer (ICD10) diagnosis is our main, binary independent variable of interest. CLSA participants were asked about their history of cancer via questionnaire. The question stem read: "Has a doctor ever told you that you had cancer?" If the participant responded "yes" to this question, then they were asked the follow-up question(s) which were part of a skip pattern: "What type(s) of cancer were you diagnosed with?" In the Comprehensive cohort, 813 participants answered yes to having received a PCa diagnosis. In the Tracking cohort, 545 participants answered yes to a PCa diagnosis. In total, 1358 Canadian men who participated in the baseline of CLSA had received a PCa diagnosis at some point during their lifetime.

Multimorbidity

To determine the occurrence of chronic health conditions, respondents were asked whether a doctor had ever told them that they have any one of 34 chronic conditions. From the list of chronic conditions, we included the following 26 physical health conditions: heart attack or myocardial infarction; angina (or chest pain due to heart disease); stroke or CVA (cerebrovascular accident); high blood pressure or hypertension; heart disease (including congestive heart failure); peripheral vascular disease or poor circulation in limbs and mini-stroke or TIA (Transient Ischemic Attack); diabetes, borderline diabetes or high blood sugar; over-active thyroid (hyperthyroidism); and under-active thyroid (hypothyroidism); emphysema, chronic bronchitis, chronic

obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), or chronic changes in lungs due to smoking; asthma; macular degeneration; osteoarthritis in one or both hands, osteoarthritis in one or both hips, osteoarthritis in the knee; osteoporosis; other type of arthritis; rheumatoid arthritis; kidney disease or kidney failure; intestinal or stomach ulcers; bowel disorder; epilepsy, multiple sclerosis and Parkinsonism/Parkinson's disease; dementia or Alzheimer's disease; and cancer.

The types of chronic conditions included in multimorbidity studies vary widely, as does the number of conditions, which have ranged from 11 to 130 (95,96). We included the 26 chronic physical conditions listed above as they either fit the definition of a chronic condition or have been included in previous multimorbidity studies (95,96). Consistent with previous research, presence of multimorbidity was coded 1, and was defined as the presence of two or more chronic physical health conditions (46,84). For PCa survivors, this meant one or more conditions in addition to their lifetime history of PCa.

Substance Use – Alcohol Use and Smoking

CLSA participants in both cohorts were asked about the frequency of their alcohol consumption in the past 12 months. This item was assessed using four categories: daily drinker (4-5 times a week or almost every day) (coded 3), weekly drinker (once a week or 2-3 times a week) (coded 2), occasional drinker (less than once a month or about once a month or 2-3 times a month) (coded 1), and non-drinkers (coded 0). CLSA participants in both cohorts were asked about the frequency of their smoking in the last 30 days. This item was assessed using three categories: daily (at least one cigarette every day for the past 30 days) (coded 2), occasionally (at least one cigarette in the past 30 days, but not

every day) (coded 1), and not at all (you did not smoke at all in the past 30 days) (coded 0).

4.2.4 Covariates

Covariates, potential confounders to be adjusted for, were selected based on previous literature indicating these variables are associated with mental health and/or PCa (73,97–100). The following six covariates were employed: age (<65, 65-74, 75+); province (Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Prince Edward Island, Quebec and Saskatchewan); education (less than post-secondary degree/diploma, post-secondary degree/diploma); household income (<\$50 000 a year; ≥ \$50 000, less than \$100 000 a year; ≥ \$100 000, less than \$150 000 a year; ≥\$150 000 a year); marital status (married or common-law; not married/not common-law) and ethnicity [other (non-whites), white only, to account for the limited counts in some cells that would have otherwise limited our analyses].

4.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Complex survey data typically violates the assumption of independence of observations. Therefore estimation methods that accommodate such data sampling must be used, otherwise variances will be understated (101). To adjust the complex survey data, variances were estimated using Taylor Series Linearization available in the Complex Sample module in SPSS 25.0 (101). For the Pooled CLSA data, our analyses were based on a design employing normalized inclusion weights of 25,183 adult men drawn from 34 equally allocated strata. For the Comprehensive CLSA data, our analyses were based on a design employing normalized inclusion weights of 14,777 adult men drawn from 14 equally allocated strata. Covariate-adjusted logistic regressions assessed the association

between lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis and three mental health outcomes — psychological distress, depressive symptoms, and self-rated mental health. Covariate-adjusted multivariate logistic regressions considered lifetime history of PCa, multimorbidity and substance use (alcohol use and smoking) simultaneously to predict each of the mental health outcomes. Listwise deletion reduced the estimation sample for depressive symptoms to 25,060 from 25,183 and for self-rated mental health to 25,159 from 25,183. For psychological distress, listwise deletion reduced the estimation sample to 13,960 from 14,777. Based on 5.5% of our data missing for psychological distress, multiple imputation (MI) was performed using IBM SPSS 25.0 (102).

The imputation method selected was the Automatic method (the software scans the data and decides on which method of imputation (monotone or fully conditional) should be specified based on the pattern of missing data. Fully conditional specification (FCS) was selected, which is an iterative Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) method. The MCMC method can be used when the pattern of missing data is arbitrary (103). We specified 20 iterations, as recommended by the literature (102,104). For each iteration, and for each variable in the order specified in the variable list, the FCS method fits a univariate model using all other available variables in the model as predictors, then imputes missing values for the variable being fit. This method continues until the maximum number of iterations is reached. For each of our analyses using MI, sensitivity analyses were performed to determine how the missing data affected the results. Analyses for psychological distress are reported for both original and multiple imputation (MI) pooled data.

To make the estimates generalizable to the Canadian population and address the complexity of the CLSA survey design, we used trimmed (inflation) weights in the descriptive analyses and analytic weights in the regression analyses, as recommended by CLSA (105). Weights were calculated by CLSA and were provided in the dataset that was released to researchers (105).

4.3 RESULTS

In this population-based sample, the estimated prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis was 4% (95% CI: 3.7, 4.4) in Canadians males aged 47-65. Table 4.3.1 displays the estimates of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis by demographic characteristics. Of the Canadian men who reported a lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis, 72.8% were over the age of 65. The majority of men who reported a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis were married or common-law, 83.7%. Additionally, over 70% of the men who reported a history of PCa had a household income of less than \$100,000 per year; and of those, 29% reported a household income of less than \$50,000 per year.

Table 4.3.2 shows the logistic regression model for lifetime history of PCa diagnosis by screening positive for psychological distress. Men with a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis showed statistically significantly higher adjusted odds of screening positive for psychological distress, as measured by the K10 (aOR= 1.52, 95% CI: 1.09, 2.11; aOR^{MI} 1.57, 95% CI: 1.18, 2.08), compared to men who never received a PCa diagnosis.

History of PCa diagnosis was statistically significantly associated with depressive symptoms and, compared to men without a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis, those with a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis showed higher adjusted odds of screening positive for

depressive symptoms, as measured by CES-D10 (aOR = 1.24, 95% CI: 1.02, 1.51) (see Table 4.3.3).

History of PCa diagnosis and poor self-rated mental health were not statistically significantly associated (Table 4.3.4).

Table 4.3.5 shows the logistic regression analyses for screening positive for psychological distress by multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking. All three predictors were statistically significantly associated with psychological distress. Individuals who self-identified as having multimorbidity showed statistically significantly higher odds of screening positive for psychological distress (aOR = 1.73, 95% CI: 1.50, 2.01); aOR^{MI} = 1.78, 95% CI: 1.56, 2.03), compared to those who did not. Compared to non-drinkers, daily or weekly drinkers showed statistically significantly higher odds of screening positive for psychological distress (aOR = 1.66, 95% CI: 1.31, 2.11; aOR^{MI} = 1.69, 95% CI: 1.38, 2.07 and aOR = 1.46, 95% CI: 1.16, 1.84; aOR^{MI} = 1.55, 95% CI: 1.27, 2.07, respectively). Lastly, compared to non-smokers, those who were daily smokers showed statistically significantly higher odds of screening positive for psychological distress (aOR = 1.81, 95% CI: 1.43, 2.27; aOR^{MI} = 1.83, 95% CI: 1.58, 2.13). The results for the original data set and the MI pooled data were comparable.

Multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking were statistically significantly associated with depressive symptoms (see Table 4.3.6). Compared to those with no multimorbidity, those with multimorbidity (two or more chronic conditions, other than PCa diagnosis) showed statistically significantly higher odds of screening positive for depressive symptoms (aOR = 1.69, 95% CI: 1.53, 1.85). Compared to non-drinkers, those who were daily, weekly or occasional drinkers showed statistically significantly higher odds of

screening positive for depressive symptoms (aOR= 1.48 (95% CI:1.28, 1.71), 1.64 (95% CI:1.42, 1.89), and 1.23 (95% CI:1.06, 1.41), respectively). Compared to non-smokers, those who were daily smokers showed statistically significantly higher odds of screening positive for depressive symptoms (aOR = 1.58, 95% CI:1.37, 1.83).

Multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking were statistically significantly associated with self-rated mental health (see Table 4.3.7). Compared to those with no multimorbidity, those with multimorbidity showed statistically significantly higher odds of self-reporting poor mental health (aOR = 2.27, 95% CI: 1.96, 2.62). Compared to non-drinkers, those who were daily, weekly or occasional drinkers showed statistically significantly higher odds of self-reporting poor mental health (aOR = 1.76 (95% CI: 1.43, 2.18), 2.07 (95% CI: 1.68, 2.56), and 1.51 (95% CI: 1.23, 1.85), respectively). Compared to non-smokers, those who were daily smokers showed statistically significantly higher odds of self-reporting poor mental health (aOR = 1.58, 95% CI: 1.29, 1.93).

Table 4.3.8, provides synopsis of Model 1, which displays the association between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and psychological distress, and Model 2, which displays a covariate-adjusted multivariate logistic regression assessing the contributions of lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis, multimorbidity, and substance use (alcohol use and smoking) to screening positive for psychological distress. Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis no longer predicts psychological distress when multimorbidity and substance use are included in the Model, using the original data. However, in the pooled MI data model (see Table 4.3.9 – Model 2) lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis remains statistically significantly associated with psychological distress when multimorbidity and substance use (alcohol use and smoking) are included in the model. The results for the

multivariate logistic regression (Model 2) were not consistent between the complete case (original data) analysis and pooled multiple imputation analysis.

Table 4.3.10, provides a synopsis of the results of Model 1, which assessed lifetime history of PCa diagnosis with screening positive for depressive symptoms and displays covariate-adjusted multivariate logistic regression (Model 2) examining the association between depressive symptoms and lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis, multimorbidity, and substance use (alcohol use and smoking). Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis remains significantly associated with depressive symptoms when multimorbidity and substance use (alcohol use and smoking) were included in the model.

Lastly, Table 4.3.11 displays a covariate-adjusted multivariate logistic regression evaluating the association between poor self-rated mental health and lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis, multimorbidity, and substance use (alcohol use and smoking). Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis remained not statistically significantly associated with poor self-rated mental health when multimorbidity and substance use (alcohol use and smoking) were included in the model.

4.4 Discussion

The estimated prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis was 4% (95% CI: 3.7, 4.4), males aged 47-65, in this secondary analysis of the baseline (2010-2015) CLSA data. This estimate is comparable to the 4% prevalence estimate of history of lifetime PCa in Atlantic Canada (2009-2015) reported most recently (males aged 49-69 years old) and 2.7% higher than the previous estimate reported by Courneya et al (2008) based on 2005 data (males aged 18 to 65) (8,9). Our results suggest that the prevalence of PCa survivors has increased in the last 10 years, which is consistent with the increasing number of

adults over the age of 65, as well as better detection and treatment practices. However, comparisons between our prevalence and Courneya et al. are precluded due to the differences in the age range and the surveillance time period assessed between the two studies. The results we report here indicate statistically significant greater psychological distress and depressive symptoms among Canadian men who self-reported a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis, compared to men who had no history of a PCa diagnosis. In analyses controlled for multimorbidity and substance use, lifetime history of PCa is still associated with increased probability of poorer mental health outcomes. This suggests that preventative efforts to reduce mental health burden during PCa survivorship is a health priority.

The results reported here complement studies that indicate the PCa population deals with higher levels of poor mental health than the non-PCa population (6,10). To our knowledge this is the first investigation looking at mental health outcomes among Canadian men with a history of PCa diagnosis, compared to men in the general population, that also models simultaneously the contribution of multimorbidity and substance use, both factors that have been shown to contribute to mental health burden in the general population. Our results show that PCa is an additional adverse health correlate for mental health, irrespective of multimorbidity and substance use. The implication of this novel research is the potential for increased focus on acknowledging and addressing the psychological needs of PCa patients and survivors. Results here point to the need to identify the struggles of PCa survivors in order to ensure their proper care and good QoL long-term. This could therefore be informative to clinicians and health policy makers, who want to improve the QoL for Canadian PCa patients and survivors.

This might be accomplished via innovative and integrative care plans such as holistic interventions that aim to ease the psychosocial and physical needs of this population. Such programs are already in development, including the TrueNTH programs developed by Prostate Cancer Canada and the Prostate Cancer – Patient Empowerment Program (PC-PEP) based out of the Soillse Scientist in Prostate Cancer Quality of Life Research Laboratory in Halifax, Nova Scotia. These programs share the common goal of fostering networks of healthcare professionals, researchers and patient representatives to improve the QoL of men with PCa (106,107).

Our results are consistent with the literature, where those with multimorbidity have a greater probability of poor mental health outcomes compared to those without multimorbidity (84). Additionally, our results corroborate findings that those who are more frequent drinkers and smokers have higher probability of worse mental health outcomes (87,108).

Our results indicate absence of an association between history of PCa diagnosis and self-rated mental health (SRMH) for this sample of men. This finding is inconsistent with the results produced from the two validated questionnaires, CES-D10 and K10. This suggests the importance of using validated questionnaires for assessing mental health. The use of validated measures reduces the influence of social desirability bias that is associated with self-reported data, especially when it comes to states of being that are stigmatized in our society.

The results reported here, however, are subject to various limitations. Firstly, the nature of the data used for our analyses is retrospective and self-reported, and thus is subject to recall bias that may have affected the results. Second, as with many

population-based studies, the first wave of the CLSA had a lower than expected response rate. The overall response proportion was approximately 10%, which, although adjusted for by the use of population-based weights, may have introduced non-response bias (109). CLSA respondents were slightly more educated than the non-responders (90). Therefore, we can speculate that non-response bias in the CLSA may have led to an underestimate of the prevalence of history of PCa diagnosis due to adults with higher educational attainment living healthier and longer lives (97). Survival bias is another potential concern. This bias occurs since men who survived their PCa diagnosis are more likely to enter our study than other cases. On average, these men are likely to be healthier, have less multimorbidity and less substance use, than men who did not survive. Since multimorbidity and substance use increase the risk of mortality, the proportion of cases with high multimorbidity and heavy substance use will be lower in our data and could consequently lead to an underestimate of the odds ratios for the associations between multimorbidity/substance use and mental health outcomes (110–112). Survival bias describes our tendency to focus on the individuals that have passed some kind of selection process, such as surviving their PCa diagnosis. This type of selection bias is of particular relevance in cross-sectional studies which measure prevalent rather than incident cases, and the data will always reflect determinants of survival. Therefore, using long-term data from the CLSA may help reduce this type of bias in future studies as researchers will be able to assess survivorship time of individuals as well as incident cases. Both survivorship time and incidence would give researchers a better picture of the population of interest and allow for comparisons between survivors and non-survivors at each interval, which could reduce survival bias. An additional limitation for the current

study is the comparison group (men without a history of lifetime PCa diagnosis) rather than comparing PCa with other forms of cancer. Results here preclude us from concluding whether a lifetime history of PCa or a lifetime history of cancer is associated with poor mental health when the covariates assessed are held constant. Future studies should consider including this additional control group and examine if the results we observed here are restricted to PCa or include other forms of cancer (10).

Nonetheless, the results reported here provide important contributions, by providing evidence of poor mental health outcomes among Canadian men with a history of PCa diagnosis via examining data from a large-scale, national, population-based survey that used a standard protocol. Another strength of our study is the use of two validated mental health measures, CES-D 10 and K10, which allowed us to capture different dimensions of the mental health construct. Another important consideration is that we were able to capture 26 chronic conditions for inclusion into our multimorbidity variable. In contrast, many previous studies examining multimorbidity in the Canadian population were based on only a limited number of chronic conditions (113).

Future CLSA longitudinal data should be used to assess longitudinal changes in the prevalence of mental health outcomes among men with a history of a PCa diagnosis.

Future cycles of CLSA data could be used to identify incident cases of PCa, which will also allow for a comparison between the mental health outcomes of newly diagnosed men (incident cases) and those of men with a lifetime history of a PCa diagnosis at baseline.

In conclusion, data from a nationally representative sample of men indicate that those with a lifetime history of PCa diagnosis have worse mental health outcomes than those with no history of PCa diagnosis, when all literature-derived main relevant factors

to poor mental health outcomes in the population are held constant. This research may have implications related to care of prostate cancer survivors, by informing new interventions and care plans that acknowledge and address the psychological issues of these men.

Table 4.3.1 Weighted and unweighted estimates with 95% CI of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis by demographic characteristics for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 ($N=25\,183$).

	Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	
	No Yes	
	(n = 23825)	(n = 1358)
Age		
> 75 (n)	(4133)	(641)
Weighted % (95% CI)	10.2 (9.7, 10.7)	36.2 (32.3, 40.3)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	17.3 (16.8, 17.8)	47.2 (44.5, 49.9)
65-74 (n)	(5516)	(452)
Weighted % (95% CI)	18.3 (17.5, 19.1)	36.6 (32.2, 41.2)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	23.2 (22.7, 23.7)	33.3 (30.8, 35.8)
< 65 (n) (Reference)	(14176)	(265)
	` ,	· ´
Weighted % (95% CI)	71.5 (70.6, 72.4)	27.2 (23.3, 31.6)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	59.5 (58.9, 60.1)	19.5 (17.4, 21.6)
Provincial Residence		
Saskatchewan (n)	(641)	(38)
Weighted % (95% CI)	2.9 (2.8, 3.0)	3.1 (2.2, 4.3)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	2.7 (2.5, 2.9)	2.8 (1.9, 3.7)
Quebec (n)	(4465)	(223)
Weighted % (95% CI)	24.6 (24.2, 25.0)	22.9 (19.6, 26.7)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	18.7 (18.2, 19.2)	16.4 (14.4, 18.4)
Prince Edward Island (n)	(517)	(48)
Weighted % (95% CI)	0.4 (0.4, 0,5)	0.7 (0.5, 1.0)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	2.2 (2.0, 2.4)	3.5 (2.5, 4.5)
Ontario (n)	(5210)	(298)
Weighted % (95% CI)	38.1 (37.7, 38.6)	39.3 (34.7, 44.1)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	21.9 (21.4, 22.4)	21.9 (19.7, 24.0)
Nova Scotia (n)	(2177)	(129)
Weighted % (95% CI)	3.0 (2.9, 3.1)	2.7 (2.0, 3.6)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	9.1 (8.7, 9.5)	9.5 (7.9, 11.1)
Newfoundland and Labrador (n)	(1622)	(85)
Weighted % (95% CI)	1.7 (1.7, 1.8)	1.6 (1.2, 2.3)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	6.7 (6.5, 7.1)	6.4 (5.0, 7.6)
New Brunswick (n)	(634)	(34)
Weighted % a (95% CI)	2.4 (2.4, 2.5)	2.3 (1.6, 3.2)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	2.7 (2.5, 2.9)	2.5 (1.7, 3.3)
Manitoba (n)	(2137)	(107)
Weighted % (95% CI)	3.4 (3.3, 3.4)	3.1 (2.5, 3.9)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	9.0 (8.6, 9.4)	7.9 (6.5, 9.3)
British Columbia (n)	(4089)	(264)
Weighted % (95% CI)	13.9 (13.6, 14.1)	15.3 (12.9, 17.9)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	17.2 (16.7, 17.7)	19.4 (17.3, 21.5)
Alberta (n) (Reference)	(2333)	(132)
Weighted % (95% CI)	9.6 (9.4, 9.8)	9.0 (7.2, 11.1)
Unweighted % (95% CI)	9.8 (9.4, 10.2)	9.7 (8.1, 11.3)

	Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis		
	No	Yes	
	(n = 23825)	(n = 1358)	
Education (1)	,	,	
Less than post-secondary degree/ diploma (n)	(5721)	(400)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	25.2 (24.3, 26.1)	31.2 (27.2, 35.5)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	24.1 (23.6, 24.6)	29.5 (27.1, 31.9)	
Post-secondary degree/ diploma (n)	(18032)	(955)	
(Reference)			
Weighted % (95% CI)	74.8 (73.9, 75.7)	68.8 (64.5, 72.8)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	75.9 (75.4, 76.4)	70.5 (68.1, 72.9)	
Total Household Income (2)			
< \$50 000/year (n)	(5744)	(373)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	23.1 (22.3, 24.0)	29.2 (25.2, 33.4)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	25.3 (24.7, 25.8)	28.9 (26.5, 31.3)	
≥ \$50 000, less than \$100 000/ year (n)	(8356)	(561)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	37.0 (35.9, 38.0)	41.4 (37.0, 46.0)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	36.8 (36.2, 37.4)	43.5 (40.9, 46.1)	
\geq \$100 000, less than \$150 000/year (n)	(4644)	(221)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	21.0 (20.2, 21.9)	18.5 (15.0, 22.5)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	20.4 (19.9, 20.9)	17.1 (15.1, 19.1)	
≥ \$150 000 year (n) (Reference)	(3987)	(136)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	18.9 (18.0, 19.8)	10.9 (8.3, 14.3)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	17.5 (17.0, 18.0)	10.5 (8.9, 12.1)	
Marital Status (3)	,		
Non-married/non-common-law (n)	(5365)	(274)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	18.7 (18.0, 19.5)	16.3 (13.5, 19.4)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	22.5 (22.0, 23.0)	20.2 (18.1, 22.3)	
Married/common-law (n) (Reference)	(18454)	(1084)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	81.3 (80.5, 82.0)	83.7 (80.6, 86.5)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	77.5 (77.0, 78.0)	79.8 (77.7, 81.9)	
Ethnicity (4)			
Other (n)	(992)	(53)	
Weighted % (95% CI)	4.8 (4.3, 5.3)	3.8 (2.3, 6.2)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	4.4 (4.1, 4.7)	4.0 (3.0, 5.0)	
White only (n) (Reference)	(21800)	(1273)	
Weighted % a (95% CI)	95.2 (94.7, 95.7)	96.2 (93.8, 97.7)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	95.6 (95.3, 95.9)	96.0 (95.0, 97.0)	

⁽¹⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: $n = 25\ 108$ (2) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: $n = 24\ 022$ (3) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: $n = 25\ 177$

⁽⁴⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 25 1//
(4) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 24 118
In complex samples, df = (#PSUs) – (# strata);

*** significant at p < 0.001;

** significant at p < 0.05

* significant at p < 0.05

^a complex sample analysis design adjusted – inflation weights used.

Table 4.3.2 Estimates of psychological distress, as measured by K10, by lifetime history of PCa for Canadian men from the Comprehensive cohort during the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 (N = 14777).

	Listwise Deletion (n = 13 960)			Multiple Imputation (p	ooled n = 14 777)
	Screened positive for psychological distress			Screened positive for psychological distress	
	No	Yes		No	Yes
	(n= 12623)	(n = 1337)		(pooled $n = 13349$)	(pooled n = 1428)
Model (1)	F (7, 1268	(9) = 39.29***	Model MI	F (7, 1475	7) = 49.48***
Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	F (1, 12)	695) = 6.24*	Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis MI	F (1, 147	63) = 9.70**
Yes (n)	(681)	(79)	Yes (n)	(728)	(85)
Weighted %a (95% CI)	3.7 (3.4, 4.0)	4.7 (3.5, 6.3)		3.8 (3.5, 4.1)	4.7 (3.6, 6.2)
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.52 (1.09, 2.11)**	aOR ^{MI} (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.57 (1.18, 2.08)**
No (n) (Reference)	(11942)	(1258)	No (n)	(12621)	(1343)
Age	F(1, 12695) = 83.88	}***	Age MI	F(1, 14763) = 102.44**	**
† Province	$F(1, 12695) = 4.79^{\circ}$	k	*Province MI	F(1, 14763) = 5.74*	
Education	F(1, 12695) = 7.22**		Education MI	F(1, 14763) = 5.83*	
Household Income	F(1, 12695) = 95.43***		Household Income MI	F (1, 14763) = 117.23**	
Marital Status	F(1, 12695) = 20.77***		Marital Status MI	F(1, 14763) = 30.72***	¢
Ethnicity	F(1, 12695) = 9.99*	*	Ethnicity MI	F(1, 14763) = 17.39***	*

adjusted ORs (aORs) were calculated using logistic regression – aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity;

PCa, prostate cancer.

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 12709

[•] Participants recruited to the Comprehensive cohort were required to live within 25-50 km of one of 11 Data Collection Sites (DCS) across 7 Canadian provinces. In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata);

^{***} significant at P < 0.001;

^{**} significant at P < 0.01;

^{*} significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed)

a. complex sample analysis design adjusted – inflation weights used;

b. complex sample analysis design adjusted – analytical weights used;

F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests;

Table 4.3.3 Estimates of depressive symptoms, as measured by CES-D 10, by lifetime history of PCa diagnosis for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 (N = $25\ 183$).

	Screened positive for depressive symptoms (n = 25 060)		
	No	Yes	
	(n= 21 750)	(n = 3310)	
Model (1)	F (7, 22777)= 94		
Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	F(1, 22783) = 2	4.51*	
Yes (n)	(20582)	(3125)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	4.0 (3.6, 4.4)	4.1 (3.2, 5.3)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	5.4 (5.1, 5.7)	5.6 (4.8, 6.4)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.24 (1.02, 1.51)*	
No (n) (Reference)	(1168)	(185)	
Age	F(1, 22783) = 107		
Province	F(1, 22783) = 9.01**		
Education	<i>F</i> (1, 22783) = 16.18***		
Total Household Income	F(1, 22783) = 217.49***		
Marital Status	<i>F</i> (1, 22783) = 147.13***		
Ethnicity	F(1, 22783) =	1.81	

In complex samples, df = (#PSUs) - (# strata);

F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests

adjusted ORs (aORs) were calculated using logistic regression – aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity;

PCa, prostate cancer.

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 22.817

^{***} significant at p < 0.001;

^{**} significant at p <0.01;

^{*} significant at p < 0.05 (two-tailed)

^a complex sample analysis design adjusted – inflation weights used

b complex sample analysis design adjusted – analytical weights used

Table 4.3.4 Estimates of self-rated mental health (SRMH) by lifetime history of PCa diagnosis for Canadian men from the baseline cycle of the CLSA, 2010-2015 (N = $25\,183$).

	Poor self-rated mental health (SRMH) n = 25 159		
	No n = 22 564	Yes n = 1238	
Model (1)	F (7, 22860) =		
Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	F (1, 22866)	= 0.11	
Yes (n)	(1302)	(55)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	4.0 (3.7, 4.4)	4.3 (2.8, 6.6)	
Unweighted % (95% CI)	5.5 (5.2, 5.8)	4.3 (2.9, 5.7)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	0.95 (0.68, 1.32)	
No (n) (Reference)	(22564)	(1238)	
Age	F (1, 22866) = 96.31***		
Province	F (1, 22866) =	19.82***	
Education	F(1, 22866) = 0.75		
Total Household Income	F (1, 22866) = 114.57***		
Marital Status	F (1, 22866) = 71.41***		
Ethnicity	F (1, 22866) = 4.43*		

In complex samples, df = (#PSUs) - (# strata);

adjusted ORs (aORs) were calculated using logistic regression – aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

PCa, prostate cancer.

 $^{^{(1)}}$ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 22~866

^{***} significant at p < 0.001;

^{**} significant at p < 0.01;

^{*} significant at p < 0.05 (two-tailed)

^a complex sample analysis design adjusted – inflation weights used;

^b complex sample analysis design adjusted – analytical weights used;

F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests.

Table 4.3.5 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of current (past 30 days) psychological distress, as measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Listwise Deletion (n = 13 960)			Multiple Imputation (pooled n =14 777)	
	Screening positive for psychological distress		Screening	positive of psychological distress	
		Yes (n = 1337)	No (n=13345)	Yes (n = 1432)	
Model (1)	F (7, 126	(89) = 47.68***	(a see is)	7 (7, 14757) = 60.08***	
Multimorbidity	F (1, 126	(95) = 52.99***	F	F(1, 14763) = 72.16***	
Yes (n)	(6146)	(825)	(6549)	(888)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	40.4 (39.3, 41.5)	54.2 (50.8, 57.6)	40.7 (39.7, 41.8)	54.3 (51.5, 57.6)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.73 (1.50, 2.01)***	1.00 (Reference)	1.78 ^{MI} (1.56, 2.03)***	
No (n) (Reference)	(6477)	(512)	(6796)	(544)	
	59.6 (58.5, 60.7)	45.8 (42.4, 49.2)	59.3 (58.2, 60.3)	45.7 (42.4, 48.9)	
Age	F (1, 126)	95) = 112.60***	F	(1, 14763) = 140.76***	
Province	F (1, 1.	2695) = 4.68*		F(1, 14763) = 6.17*	
Education	F (1, 1.	2695) = 5.40*		F(1, 14763) = 3.39	
Household Income	F(1, 12695) = 82.02***		F	(1, 14763) = 101.97***	
Marital Status	F (1, 12695) = 21.19***		F (1, 14763) = 31.11***		
Ethnicity	F (1, 12)	695) = 11.23**	F (1, 14763) = 18.05***		
Model ⁽²⁾	F (9, 124	169) = 32.91***	F(9, 14755) = 42.57***		
Alcohol Use		2475) 7.78***	F(3, 14761) = 12.18***		
Daily drinker (n)	(4091)	(329)	(4341)	(353)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	32.0 (31.0, 33.1)	24.1 (21.3, 27.1)	32.0 (30.9, 33.0)	24.0 (21.3, 26.9)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.66 (1.31, 2.11)***	1.00 (Reference)	1.69 MI (1.38, 2.07)***	
Weekly drinker (n)	(4268)	(384)	(4564)	(415)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	37.3 (36.2, 38.5)	31.3 (28.1, 34.6)	37.3 (36.2, 38.4)	31.1 (28.0, 34.4)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.46 (1.16, 1.84)**	1.00 (Reference)	1.55 ^{MI} (1.27, 2.07)***	
Occasional drinker (n)	(2857)	(390)	(3090)	(431)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	21.6 (20.7, 22.5)	30.3 (27.2, 33.6)	21.7 (20.8, 22.6)	30.4 (27.4, 33.6)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.15 (0.92, 1.45)	1.00 (Reference)	1.15 ^{MI} (0.95, 1.40)	
Non-drinker (n) (Reference)	(1194)	(204)	(1350)	(233)	
Age	F (1, 12477) = 76.43***		F (1, 14763) =92.05***		
Province	F (1, 12477) = 6.77**		F(1, 14763) = 7.59**		
Education	F(1, 12477) = 6.39*		F (1, 14763) = 4.44*		
Household Income	F(1, 12477) = 76.10***		F (1, 14763) = 96.19***		
Marital Status	F (1, 12477) = 19.60***		F (1, 14763) = 29.69***		
Ethnicity	F (1, 12477) = 4.25*			F(1, 14763) = 8.92**	
Model ⁽³⁾	F (8, 9070) = 27.42***		F (8, 14756) = 50.67***		
Smoking	F(2, 9076) = 13.00***			F(2, 14762) = 32.26***	

	Listwise Deletion (n = 13 960)			Multiple Imputation (pooled n = 14 777)	
	Screening positive for	r psychological distress	Screening p	positive of psychological distress	
	No (n = 12623)	Yes (n = 1337)	No (n=13345)	Yes (n = 1432)	
Daily smoker (n)	(738)	(191)	(II-13343) (1116)	(n - 1432) (273)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	8.9 (8.1, 9.7)	20.0 (17.1, 23.3)	8.6 (8.0, 9.2)	19.4 (17.1, 21.9)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.81 (1.43, 2.27)***	1.00 (Reference)	1.83 MI (1.58, 2.13)***	
Occasional smoker (n)	(196)	(29)	(304)	(41)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	2.7 (2.3, 3.3)	3.4 (2.2, 5.2)	2.8 (2.5, 3.2)	3.3 (2.4, 4.7)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.42 (0.87, 2.32)	1.00 (Reference)	1.26 MI (0.91, 1.75)	
Non-smoker (n) (Reference)	(8050)	(807)	(11925)	(1118)	
Age	F (1, 9077	() = 47.16***	F	(1, 14763) = 74.51***	
Province	F (1, 90	(77) = 1.45	F(1, 14763) = 5.17*		
Education	F(1, 9077) = 1.02		F(1, 14763) = 2.87		
Household Income	F(1, 9077) = 62.45***		F (1, 14763) = 103.50***		
Marital Status	F(1, 9077) = 12.51***		F	(1, 14763) = 19.53***	
Ethnicity	F (1, 90	F(1, 9077) = 3.76		F (1, 14763) = 15.51***	

- * significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed);
- ^a complex sample analysis design adjusted inflation weights used;
- ^b complex sample analysis design adjusted analytical weights used;
- F design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests;

aORs were calculated using logistic regression and evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

Table 4.3.6 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of current depressive symptoms, as measured by CES-D 10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Screening positive for depressive symptoms $(n = 25060)$		
	No	Yes	
Model		77) = 109.66***	
Multimorbidity	1 3	83) = 114.68***	
Yes (n)	(10637)	(2045)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	43.2 (42.1, 44.3)	56.2 (53.4, 58.9)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.69 (1.53, 1.85)***	
No (n) (Reference)	(11113)	(1265)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	56.8 (55.7, 57.9)	43.8 (41.1, 46.6)	
Age		83) = 160.30***	
Province		7783) = 9.18**	
Education		(83) = 12.77***	
Household Income		83) = 188.35***	
Marital Status	F (1, 2278	83) = 148.92***	
Ethnicity		(2783) = 2.65	
Model		10) = 78.78***	
Alcohol Use (1)		16) = 18.22***	
Daily drinker (n)	(6525)	(835)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	29.2 (28.2, 30.2)	25.8 (23.5, 28.3)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.48 (1.28, 1.71)***	
Weekly drinker (n)	(7288)	(898)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	36.3 (35.2, 37.3)	29.0 (26.5, 31.6)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.64 (1.42, 1.89)***	
Occasional drinker (n)	(5205)	(956)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	24.5 (23.6, 25.5)	30.0 (27.5, 32.7)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.23 (1.06, 1.41)**	
Non-drinker (n)	(2273)	(556)	
Age	F (1, 22318) = 101.74***		
Province	<i>F</i> (1, 22318) = 7.00**		
Education	F(1, 22318) = 12.88***		
Household Income	F (1, 22318) = 178.46***		
Marital Status	F (1, 22318) = 139.93***		
Ethnicity	F(1, 22318) = 0.45		
Model	F (8, 16647) = 63.21***		
Smoking (2)	F (2, 16653) = 19.83***		

	Screening positive for depressive symptoms $(n = 25060)$		
	No	Yes	
Daily smoker (n)	(1452)	(462)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	10.6 (9.8, 11.4)	18.8 (16.4, 21.4)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.58 (1.37, 1.83)***	
Occasional smoker (n)	(340)	(78)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	2.7 (2.3, 3.2)	3.3 (2.3, 4.7)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.23 (0.93, 1.64)	
Non-smoker (n) (Reference)	(13998)	(2057)	
Age	F (1, 1665	(4) = 53.27***	
Province	F (1, 166	(54) = 7.65**	
Education	F(1, 16654) = 6.39*		
Household Income	F (1, 16654) = 129.28***		
Marital Status	F (1, 16654) = 94.45***		
Ethnicity	F (1, 16654) = 6.81**		

- (1) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 24536
- (2) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 18387

In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata);

- *** significant at P < 0.001;
- ** significant at P < 0.01;
- * significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed)
- ^a complex sample design adjusted inflation weights used;
- ^b complex sample design adjusted analytical weights used;
- F design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests;

aORs were calculated using logistic regression – aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

Table 4.3.7 Multiple logistic regression analyses predicting presence of poor self-rated mental health (SRMH), by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking, respectively, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Poor self-	rated mental health (SRMH)	
	No	Yes	
Model	F (7, 22860) = 68.71***		
Multimorbidity (1)	F (1, 22866) = 121.33***		
Yes (n)	(11844)	(883)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	43.8 (42.8, 44.9)	65.7 (61.3, 70.0)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	2.27 (1.96, 2.62)***	
No (n) (Reference)	(12022)	(410)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	56.2 (55.1,57.2)	34.3 (30.0, 38.7)	
Age	F(.	1, 22866) = 147.70***	
Province	F ((1, 22866) = 20.36***	
Education		F(1, 22866) = 0.13	
Household Income	F ((1, 22866) = 93.86***	
Marital Status	F ((1, 22866) = 74.89***	
Ethnicity		F(1, 22866) = 3.36	
Model	F(9, 22393) = 48.82***		
Alcohol Use (2)	F(3, 223399) = 16.31***		
Daily drinker (n)	(7083)	(301)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	29.1 (28.2, 30.0)	22.2 (18.7, 26.0)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.76 (1.43, 2.18)***	
Weekly drinker (n)	(7882)	(326)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	35.9 (34.9, 36.9)	23.6 (20.0, 27.6)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	2.07 (1.68, 2.56)***	
Occasional drinker (n)	(5809)	(382)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	24.9 (24.0, 25.8)	33.0 (28.7 37.7)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference) 1.51 (1.23, 1.85)***		
Non-drinker (n) (Reference)	(2592) (259)		
Weighted %a (95% CI)	10.1 (9.5, 10.7)	21.2 (17.7 25.0)	
Age	F(.	1, 22401) = 100.32***	
Province		(1, 22401) = 15.49***	
Education		F(1, 22401) = 0.08	
Household Income		(1, 22401) = 92.20***	
Marital Status		(1, 22401) = 68.81***	
Ethnicity		F(1, 22401) = 5.23*	
Model	F (8, 16711) = 42.44***		
Smoking (3)	F (2, 16717) = 10.65***		
Daily smoker (n)	(1714)	(206)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	11.1 (10.4, 11.9)	23.6 (19.4, 28.4)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)	1.00 (Reference)	1.58 (1.29, 1.93)***	
Occasional smoker (n)	(384)	(35)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	2.8 (2.3, 3.2)	4.4 (2.6, 7.3)	
aOR ^b (95% CI)			
Non-smoker (n) (Reference)	(15369)	(756)	
Weighted %a (95% CI)	I) 86.1 (85.3, 87.0) 72.0 (67.0, 76.5)		
Age	F (1, 16718) = 59.99***		
Province	F (1, 16718) = 19.77***		
Education	F(1, 16718) = 0.004		
Household Income	F (1, 16718) = 84.68***		
Marital Status	F (1, 16718) = 48.63***		
Ethnicity Notes:	F(1, 16718) = 2.33		

- (1) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 25159
- (2) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 24634
- (3) Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 18464

In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata);

aORs were calculated using logistic regression – aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

^{***} significant at P < 0.001;

^{**} significant at P < 0.01;

^{*} significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed)

^a complex sample design adjusted – inflation weights used;

^b complex sample design adjusted – analytical weights used;

F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests;

Table 4.3.8 Multivariate logistic regression, using listwise deletion, predicting current psychological distress, measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Screening positive for psychological distress vs. screening		
	negative aOR ^a (95% CI)		
	Model 1 (1)	Model 2 (2)	
	F(7, 12689) = 39.29***	F(13, 8997) = 20.63***	
Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	F(1, 12695) = 6.24*	F(1, 9009) = 1.63	
Yes	1.52 (1.09, 2.11)*	1.28 (0.88, 1.86)	
No	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)	
Multimorbidity	_	F(1, 9009) = 25.07***	
Yes	_	1.56 (1.31, 1.85)***	
No	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Alcohol Use	-	F(3, 9007) = 4.75**	
Daily drinker	_	1.52 (1.16, 2.00)**	
Weekly drinker	_	1.38 (1.05, 1.81)*	
Occasional drinker	_	1.08 (0.82, 1.42)	
Non-drinker	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Smoking	_	F(2, 9008) = 12.75***	
Daily smoker	_	1.82 (1.43, 2.30) ***	
Occasional smoker	-	1.46 (0.90, 2.40)	
Non-smoker	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Age	F(1, 12695) = 83.88***	F(1, 9009) = 60.96***	
Province	F(1, 12695) = 4.79*	F(1, 9009) = 2.11	
Education	F(1, 12695) = 7.22**	F(1, 9009) = 0.26	
Household Income	F(12695) = 95.43***	F(1, 9009) = 41.74***	
Marital Status	F(1, 12695) = 20.77***	F(1, 9009) = 15.10***	
Ethnicity	F(1, 12695) = 9.99**	F(1, 9009) = 1.56	

- (1) Listwise deletion resulted in the following n = 12709
- (2) Listwise deletion resulted in the following n = 9023

In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata);

PCa, prostate cancer

^{***} significant at P < 0.001;

^{**} significant at P < 0.01;

^{*} significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed);

a – complex sample design adjusted – analytical weights used; F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests; aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity;

Table 4.3.9 Multivariate logistic regression, using multiple imputation, predicting current psychological distress, measured by K10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Screening positive for psychological distress vs. screening negative aOR ^a (95% CI)		
	Model 1 ^{MI} Model 2 ^{MI}		
	F(7, 14757) = 49.65***	F(13, 14751) = 39.87***	
Lifetime history of PCa diagnosis	F (1, 14763) = 10.08**	F (1, 14763) = 10.96**	
Yes	1.57 (1.18, 2.08)**	1.62 (1.22, 2.16)**	
No	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)	
Multimorbidity	_	F(1, 14763) = 66.54***	
Yes	-	1.74 (1.52, 1.98)***	
No	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Alcohol Use	_	F(3, 14761) = 9.98***	
Daily drinker	-	1.62 (1.32, 1.98)***	
Weekly drinker	-	1.44 (1.18, 1.75)***	
Occasional drinker	-	1.12 (0.93, 1.36)	
Non-drinker	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Smoking	_	F (2, 14762) = 31.64***	
Daily smoker	_	1.85 (1.59, 2.15)***	
Occasional smoker	_	1.28 (0.92, 1.79)	
Non-smoker	_	1.00 (Reference)	
Age	F(1, 14763) = 104.37***	F (1, 14763) = 107.24***	
Province	F(1, 14763) = 6.02*	F (1, 14763) = 6.61*	
Education	F(1, 14763) = 5.36*	F(1, 14763) = 0.97	
Household Income	<i>F</i> (1, 14763) = 120.05***	F (1, 14763) = 69.05***	
Marital Status	F(1, 14763) = 30.40***	F (1, 14763) = 21.68***	
Ethnicity	<i>F (1, 14763) = 15.98***</i>	F (1, 14763) = 10.96**	

MI - Multiple Imputation under taken with 20 iterations for all variables included in Model 4

a – complex sample design adjusted – analytical weights used;

F – design and covariate adjusted Wald F tests;

aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity;

PCa, prostate cancer

Table 4.3.10 Multivariate logistic regression predicting depressive symptoms, measured by CESD-10, by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Screening positive for depressive symptoms vs. screening negative	
	aOR ^a (95% CI)	
	Model 1 (1)	Model 2 (2)
	F(7, 22777) = 94.98***	F(13, 16488) = 48.18***
Lifetime history of PCa	F(1, 22783) = 4.51*	F(1, 16500) = 5.81*
diagnosis	1 24 (1 02 1 51) 4	1 21 (1 05 1 (2))
Yes	1.24 (1.02, 1.51)*	1.31 (1.05, 1.63)*
No	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)
Multimorbidity	_	F(1, 16500) = 71.80***
Yes	_	1.59 (1.43, 1.78)***
No	_	1.00 (Reference)
Alcohol Use	-	F(3, 16498) = 14.85***
Daily drinker	_	1.49 (1.27, 1.75)***
Weekly drinker	_	1.69 (1.44, 1.99)***
Occasional drinker	-	1.26 (1.08, 1.49)**
Non-drinker	_	1.00 (Reference)
Tobacco	-	F(2, 16499) = 18.75***
Daily smoker	-	1.57 (1.36, 1.82)***
Occasional smoker	_	1.23 (0.92, 1.64)
Non-smoker	-	1.00 (Reference)
Age	F(1, 22783) = 107.72***	F(1, 16500) = 88.52***
Province	F(1, 22783) = 9.01**	F(1, 16500) = 6.18*
Education	F(1, 22783) = 16.18***	F(1, 16500) = 3.41
Household Income	F(1, 22783) = 217.49***	F(1, 16500) = 86.57***
Marital Status	F(1, 22783) = 147.13***	<i>F (1, 16500) = 99.90***</i>
Ethnicity	F(1, 22783) = 1.81	F(1, 16500) = 4.17*

In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata);

PCa, prostate cancer

⁽¹⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following n: 22 817

⁽²⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following n: 16 534

^{***} significant at p < 0.001;

^{**} significant at p < 0.01;

^{*} significant at p < 0.05 (two-tailed);

^a complex sample design adjusted – analytical weights used;

F – design adjusted Wald F tests; ORs and adjusted ORs (aORS) were calculated using logistic regression. aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age group, provincial residence, education level, total household income, marital status and ethnicity;

Table 4.3.11 Multivariate logistic regression predicting poor self-rated mental health (SRMH), by fitting multimorbidity, alcohol use and smoking to the model, while controlling for age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity.

	Poor self-rated mental health vs. good self-rated mental health aOR a (95% CI)	
	Model 1 (1)	Model 2 (2)
	F(7, 22860) = 53.87***	F(13, 16553) = 31.78***
Lifetime history of PCa	F(1, 22866) = 0.11	F(1, 16565) = 0.002
diagnosis		
Yes	0.95 (0.68, 1.32)	1.01 (0.70, 1.45)
No	1.00 (Reference)	1.00 (Reference)
Multimorbidity	_	F(1, 16565) = 62.99***
Yes	_	1.97 (1.67, 2.33)***
No	_	1.00 (Reference)
Alcohol Use	-	F(3, 16563) = 10.12***
Daily drinker	-	1.65 (1.30, 2.09)***
Weekly drinker	_	1.95 (1.53, 2.48)***
Occasional drinker	_	1.52 (1.20, 1.91)***
Non-drinker		1.00 (Reference)
Tobacco	-	F(2, 16564) = 9.61***
Daily smoker	_	1.54 (1.25, 1.89)***
Occasional smoker	_	1.53 (1.00, 2.32)*
Non-smoker	_	1.00 (Reference)
Age	F(1, 22866) = 96.31***	F(1, 16565) = 84.15***
Province	F(1, 22866) = 19.82***	F(1, 16565) = 18.08***
Education	F(1, 22866) = 0.75	F(1, 16565) = 0.17
Household Income	F(1, 22866) = 114.57***	F(1, 16565) = 59.19***
Marital Status	F(1, 22866) = 71.41***	F(1, 16565) = 50.35***
Ethnicity	F(1, 22866) = 4.43*	F(1, 16565) = 2.06

In complex samples, df = (# PSUs)—(# strata); *** significant at P < 0.001; ** significant at P < 0.01;

aORs were evaluated while holding fixed values of the complexity of the design, age, province, education, household income, marital status and ethnicity; PCa, prostate cancer

⁽¹⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 22900

⁽²⁾ Listwise deletion resulted in the following: n = 16599

^{*} significant at P < 0.05 (two-tailed)

a – complex sample design adjusted – analytical weights used; and covariate adjusted;

CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION

The increasing prevalence of PCa, combined with the cumulative number of years men live post-diagnosis, has led to an increased interest in the mental health of this population. This thesis examined the relationship between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and mental health outcomes among a sample of Canadian men. The main objectives were to:

(1) identify the prevalence of a lifetime PCa diagnosis in a national sample of older Canadian men (Chapter 4); (2) examine the association between lifetime history of PCa diagnosis and current mental health symptoms (Chapter 4); and (3) examine the contribution of multimorbidity and substance use in the association between lifetime history of PCa and mental health (Chapter 4).

We found the national prevalence estimate of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis to be 4% (95% CI: 3.7, 4.4), in males aged 47-65 years old. This result is a much-needed update on the national prevalence which was last reported in 2008 (8). Courneya et al (2008) found the prevalence of history of a PCa diagnosis to be 1.3% in their sample of Canadians males aged 18 to 65. Our results suggest that the prevalence of PCa survivors in our population has increased since 2005, which is consistent with the increasing number of adults over the age of 65 in our population. However, the difference in age range as well as surveillance period prevents us from making accurate comparisons between these two studies. Additionally, our national prevalence estimate is more comparable to that found by Ilie et al (2019) among the Atlantic Canadian population, which was also 4% (males aged 49-69 years old, between 2009-2015) (9).

We demonstrated that there is significantly greater psychological distress and depressive symptoms among Canadian men who self-reported a lifetime history of PCa

diagnosis, compared to men who had no history of a PCa diagnosis. Additionally, we demonstrated that when analyses are controlled for multimorbidity and substance use, lifetime history of PCa is still associated with increased probability of poorer mental health outcomes.

Our results indicate absence of an association between history of PCa diagnosis and self-rated mental health (SRMH) for this sample of men. One explanation of these results may be that the single-item perceived mental health measure (SRMH) is not robust enough to capture the complexity of the mental health issues these men are facing. Another explanation could be the influence of social desirability and/or masculine ideals, such as stoicism, on SRMH. This suggests the importance of using validated, multifaceted questionnaires for assessing mental health outcomes among older men.

Some possible mechanisms for explaining the association between history of PCa and mental health, as suggested in the literature, include survivorship needs which may include any or a combination of the following: physical symptoms (e.g., urinary, bowel and sexual function impairments), spiritual issues, practical/social problems (e.g., financial concerns) and/or emotional problems (114). Physical symptoms may be related to disease progression or treatment modality, and include pain, fatigue, sexuality/reproduction issues, and other treatment-specific issues such as menopausal symptoms and memory problems associated with hormonal therapy (20). Spiritual issues may be related to religious concerns, and fear of death (114). Practical/social problems may include transitioning back to work, and financial problems. Emotional issues may be related to fear of progression or relapse, or intimacy and social support issues.

Therefore, these aspects should be the targets of future psycho-oncological interventions.

Relevant factors that future research may want to examine also include treatment modality, disease stage and survivorship time. Examination of these factors would lead to a better understanding of the issues that men with PCa face. The direction of the association between these factors and mental health outcomes would remain substantially the same as we have found, however the strength of the association might differ based on deeper analysis of treatment modality (related side-effects), disease stage, survivorship time. The CLSA data would not allow us to explore these factors as they were not available in the survey. One possibility may be that men who selected hormonal therapy or underwent radical prostatectomy would be more likely to report adverse mental health outcomes than those who underwent other forms of treatment, based on the known intensity of the hormonal treatments side-effects which include menopausal symptoms (e.g. hot flashes and hormonal mood swings), erectile dysfunction, weight gain, etc.

The literature suggests a few possible mechanisms to explain the relationship between our predictor variables, history of PCa diagnosis, substance use and multimorbidity, relative to our outcome variable, mental health. Both multimorbidity and substance use could be risk factors for mental health issues before the development of PCa. Multimorbidity burden is common among older adults, and could be an issue prior to a PCa diagnosis. Research supports the negative effect of multimorbidity on QoL and mental health (85,115). Substance use may lead to mental health symptoms such as depression and anxiety (116). In contrast, both multimorbidity and substance use may be consequences of a PCa diagnosis. The addition of PCa increases multimorbidity burden in men who have other conditions, such as heart disease or diabetes. Furthermore, addition of physical side-effects from PCa treatment can also increase multimorbidity.

Increased substance use may also be a consequence of PCa, as a stress-coping mechanism (24). Therefore, it is difficult to speculate on the temporal order between the predictor variables in relation to the outcome measures.

5.1 LIMITATIONS

This thesis had several limitations. First, as this study is cross-sectional, and therefore is a snap-shot in time, it can only show associations, and causation cannot be inferred. However, according to the Bradford Hill criteria of causation, temporality is only one of nine components needed to provide epidemiological evidence of a causal relationship (117). The other components include strength of association, consistency, specificity, dose-response relationship, biological plausibility, experimental evidence, coherence and analogy. Our results provided *statistically significant associations* between lifetime history of PCa and mental health outcomes – depressive symptoms and psychological distress. These results are *consistent* with a large majority of studies that have also examined the association between PCa and poor mental health (6). 7/31/2019 12:26:00 PMAs of yet, no strong evidence has demonstrated a strong effect of psychosocial interventions on distress and depression in men with PCa (118). There are biological variables that may place men with PCa at an increased risk for depression, such as greater burden of physical symptoms, advanced age and type of treatment modality such as hormone therapy (10).

Second, one of the most important limitations with our data is that the nature of the information collected is retrospective and self-reported. Therefore, our results may be subject to recall bias.

Third, the analysis conducted in this study is limited by information available in the CLSA survey. For example, the CLSA did not collect additional information regarding time of PCa diagnosis and PCa treatment modality, both of which could have strengthened our analysis and, therefore, our conclusions.

Finally, there is a possibility of selection bias in the CLSA study. As with many population-based studies, the first wave of the CLSA had a lower than expected response rate. The overall response proportion was approximately 10%, which, although adjusted for by the use of population-based weights, may have introduced non-response bias. Nonresponse or refusal to participate can increase the risk of selection bias and reduces the likelihood of having a representative sample, which occurs when those who participate differ in some systematic way from those who do not. This issue was examined, in part, in the 2009 CLSA pilot. Very few differences were found between responders to the CLSA pilot questionnaire and non-responders. However, responders were slightly more educated than the non-responders (90). Research on population-based surveys has shown that older individuals and individuals with higher education are more prone to complete questionnaires (119). Our sample of men is highly selective, that is, the majority are white, educated, married and have moderate to high income. These factors may reduce the generalizability of our results to the entire Canadian PCa population. Only by obtaining relevant information on non-respondents can investigators accurately estimate response bias and its effects on the odds ratio. However, we can speculate that nonresponse bias in the CLSA may have led to an underestimate of the prevalence of history of PCa diagnosis due to adults with higher educational attainment living healthier and longer lives (97).

Survival bias is another potential concern for our study. This bias occurs since men who survived their PCa diagnosis are more likely to enter our study. On average, these men are likely to be healthier, and have less multimorbidity and less substance use, than men who did not survive. Since multimorbidity and substance use increase the risk of death from PCa, the proportion of cases with high multimorbidity and heavy substance use will be lower in our data. Therefore, we are excluding patients who have died (severe cases) and focusing on those who survived their diagnosis. This may have consequently led to an underestimate of the prevalence estimate of history of PCa, as we are only capturing those men in the population who survived their diagnosis. Using follow-up data from the CLSA may help reduce this type of bias in future research.

5.2 STRENGTHS

The main strength of this research is the use of a large-scale, national, population-based survey that used a standard protocol to examine detailed characteristics of aging. This is the most recent study documenting the national prevalence of lifetime history of PCa diagnosis among older Canadian adults. The breadth of data collected allows for comparison across a number of patient-important outcomes that are not usually available in other routinely collected data sources. Additionally, the information collected allows for several covariates to be assessed and controlled for in analysis. Another strength is the availability, use and comparison of two validated measures, CES-D 10 and K10, and a self-rated mental health (SRMH) item for our outcome variable, mental health. The use of these measures is a strength of our study because it has the potential to minimize measurement bias by capturing different dimensions of the mental health construct.

Another important consideration is that we were able to capture 26 chronic conditions for

inclusion into our multimorbidity variable. In contrast, many previous studies examining multimorbidity in the Canadian population were based on only a limited number of chronic conditions (113).

5.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH AND CLINICIANS

The first clinical implication of our results is the increased need for multi-disciplinary healthcare teams to assess mental health outcomes among men with PCa, so that issues do not go undiagnosed as they can lead to dire consequences such as worse treatment outcomes, higher risk of suicide, and overall poorer QoL (38,39,41,42). Another clinical implication of our results is the support they provide for the development and adoption of holistic intervention programs that target this population and help provide men with tools to alleviate the burden of mental health issues, such as support groups, meditation and physical activity (9).

Future research needs to consider the use of multiple validated mental health measures to accurately capture the complexity of the mental health construct. Our results indicated the presence of an association between history of PCa diagnosis and both depressive symptoms, measured by CES-D10, and psychological distress, measured by K10, for this sample of men. However, our results did not demonstrate the presence of an association between history of PCa diagnosis and self-reported mental health (SRMH) among these men. This suggests the importance of using multi-faceted measures for assessing mental health, rather than a single-item perceived health measure. Although SRMH is a validated measure, its simplicity does not seem to capture the complex psychological issues within the PCa population. The SRMH item may be subject to social desirability bias that is often associated with self-reported data, especially when it comes

to states of being that are stigmatized in our society. Therefore, future studies examining mental health among PCa patients should employ several tools to assess and screen for the different psychological issues these men face during their cancer journeys.

Additionally, the findings from our research should inform clinicians who may want to screen their patients for mental health issues. That is, they should employ a validated, short-form questionnaire, such as the CES-D10 or K10, rather than relying on self-reports from patients about their perceived mental health status.

There is a need for further research. The future CLSA follow-up data should be used to assess longitudinal changes in prevalence of mental health outcomes among men with a history of a PCa diagnosis. Future cycles of CLSA data could be used to identify incident cases of PCa. Then, the mental health outcomes between newly diagnosed men (incident cases) and those with a history of a PCa diagnosis at baseline could be compared and evaluated. Future cycles of the CLSA, and other population-based surveys, may benefit from inclusion of the date of diagnosis in their questionnaires which would allow for the assessment of survivorship time.

Additionally, future research should explore the social construct of masculinity in relation to mental health outcomes of men with PCa. There are several aspects of masculine socialization that may have positive or negative implications for men with urogenital cancers (120). For example, strength and resiliency may play a positive role in dealing with the psychological effects of PCa (121). Conversely, ideals such as stoicism and reluctance to disclose vulnerability may negatively influence emotional coping in men with PCa (121). The inter-play of these aspects are vital to bettering our understanding of mental health among this population. The knowledge gained from this

type of future research may enable the development of interventions that harness masculine ways of coping, thereby maximizing the emotional supports needed by men at all stages of their cancer journeys.

Avenues for future work using future cycles of CLSA could include an exploration of the association between history of PCa and mental health outcome over time, and an exploration of the role of survivorship time in this association. The examination of the interaction between age and lifetime history of PCa constitutes yet another avenue to extend the results of the current study. Knowledge gained from this research will give a better picture of who is suffering the most in this population, and therefore lead to age-specific interventional programs. Lastly, assessing the role played by treatment modality and social support in the relationship between history of PCa diagnosis and mental health it would allow researchers to identify the populations most at need. Both treatment modality and social support (e.g. marital status) could be explored as potential mediators in the causal pathway. Knowledge from this exploration could lead to the creation of improved care plans and better targeted interventional practices, such as spousal/partner educational programs or individualized group support programs based on treatment type.

References

- 1. Canadian Cancer Society's Advisory Committee on Cancer Statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2017 [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2017 [cited 2019 Apr 3]. Available from: http://www.cancer.ca/~/media/cancer.ca/CW/cancer%20information/cancer%2010 1/Canadian%20cancer%20statistics/Canadian-Cancer-Statistics-2017-EN.pdf
- 2. Canadian Cancer Society. Prostate cancer statistics [Internet]. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2017 [cited 2019 Apr 12]. Available from: https://www.cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/cancer-type/prostate/statistics/?region=on
- 3. Fradet Y, Klotz L, Trachtenberg J, Zlotta A. The burden of prostate cancer in Canada. Can Urol Assoc J. 2009 Jun;3(3 Suppl 2):S92–100.
- 4. American Cancer Society. Key statistics for prostate cancer [Internet]. Atlanta, Ga; 2019 [cited 2019 Mar 13]. Available from: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/prostate-cancer/about/key-statistics.html
- 5. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and prostate cancer [Internet] Washington, DC: AICR; 2018 [cited 2019 June 30]. Available from: https://www.wcrf.org/sites/default/files/Prostate-cancer-report.pdf
- 6. Watts S, Leydon G, Birch B, Prescott P, Lai L, Eardley S, et al. Depression and anxiety in prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence rates. BMJ Open. 2014 Mar 13;4(3):e003901.
- 7. Statistics Canada. Population projections for Canada, provinces and territories: highlights [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: 2015 [cited 2019 Jul 6]. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/91-520-x/2010001/aftertoc-aprestdm1-eng.htm
- 8. Courneya KS, Katzmarzyk PT, Bacon E. Physical activity and obesity in Canadian cancer survivors. Cancer. 2008 Jun 1;112(11): 2475-2482.
- 9. Ilie G, Rutledge RDH, Sweeney E. An examination of the relationship between depression and anxiety symptoms among adult men with or without a lifetime history of prostate cancer from Atlantic Canada. Psychooncology. Forthcoming 2019.
- Fervaha G, Izard JP, Tripp DA, Rajan S, Leong DP, Siemens DR. Depression and prostate cancer: A focused review for the clinician. Urol Oncol. 2019 Apr;37(4):282-288.

- 11. Llorente MD, Burke M, Gregory GR, Bosworth HB, Grambow SC, Horner RD, et al. Prostate cancer: a significant risk factor for late-life suicide. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2005 Mar;13(3):195–201.
- 12. Hervouet S, Savard J, Simard S, Ivers H, Laverdière J, Vigneault É, et al. Psychological functioning associated with prostate cancer: cross-sectional comparison of patients treated with radiotherapy, brachytherapy, or surgery. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2005 Nov;30(5):474–84.
- 13. Canadian Mental Health Association (CMHA). Fast Facts about Mental Illness [Internet]. Toronto, ON: CMHA National; 2013 [cited 2019 Apr 22]. Available from: https://cmha.ca/about-cmha/fast-facts-about-mental-illness
- Jacobsen PB, Rowland JH, Paskett ED, Van Leeuwen F, Moskowitz C, Katta S, et al. Identification of key gaps in cancer survivorship research: findings from the American society of clinical oncology survey. J Oncol Pract. 2016 Mar;12(3):190–3.
- 15. Makovski T, Schmitz S, van den Akker M, Zeegers M, Stranges S. Multimorbidity and quality of life systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Rev DÉpidémiologie Santé Publique. 2018 Jul 1;66:S327.
- 16. Mercer SW, Smith SM, Wyke S, O'Dowd T, Watt GC. Multimorbidity in primary care: developing the research agenda. Fam Pract. 2009 Mar 2;26(2):79–80.
- 17. Gould CE, O'Hara R, Goldstein MK, Beaudreau SA. Multimorbidity is associated with anxiety in older adults in the health and retirement study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2016 Oct;31(10):1105–15.
- 18. Wei MY, Mukamal KJ. Multimorbidity and mental health-related quality of life and risk of completed suicide. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2019;67(3):511–9.
- 19. Rice SM, Oliffe JL, Kelly MT, Cormie P, Chambers S, Ogrodniczuk JS, et al. Depression and prostate cancer: examining comorbidity and male-specific symptoms. Am J Mens Health. 2018 Nov;12(6):1864–72.
- 20. American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO). Prostate Cancer: Types of Treatment [Internet]. Cancer.Net. 2012 [cited 2019 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.cancer.net/cancer-types/prostate-cancer/types-treatment
- 21. Ritchie CS, Kvale E, Fisch MJ. Multimorbidity: an issue of growing importance for oncologists. J Oncol Pract. 2011 Nov;7(6):371-4.
- 22. Matthes KL, Limam M, Pestoni G, Held L, Korol D, Rohrmann S. Impact of comorbidities at diagnosis on prostate cancer treatment and survival. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2018 Apr;144(4):707–15.

- 23. Fortin M, Bravo G, Hudon C, Lapointe L, Almirall J, Dubois M-F, et al. Relationship between multimorbidity and health-related quality of life of patients in primary care. Qual Life Res. 2006 Feb;15(1):83–91.
- 24. Pinto BM, Trunzo JJ. Health behaviors during and after a cancer diagnosis. Cancer. 2005;104(S11):2614–23.
- 25. Westmaas JL, Alcaraz KI, Berg CJ, Stein KD. Prevalence and correlates of smoking and cessation-related behavior among survivors of ten cancers: findings from a nationwide survey nine years after diagnosis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2014 Sep;23(9):1783–92.
- 26. Han MA. Stress and depressive symptoms in cancer survivors and their family members: Korea community health survey, 2012. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Sep;14(9).
- 27. Tombal B. Prostate cancer, depression, and risk of suicide: should we pay more attention? Eur Urol. 2010 Mar;57(3):396–7.
- 28. Ravi P, Karakiewicz PI, Roghmann F, Gandaglia G, Choueiri TK, Menon M, et al. Mental health outcomes in elderly men with prostate cancer. Urol Oncol. 2014 Nov;32(8):1333–40.
- 29. Spoletini I, Gianni W, Repetto L, Bria P, Caltagirone C, Bossù P, et al. Depression and cancer: an unexplored and unresolved emergent issue in elderly patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2008 Feb;65(2):143–55.
- 30. Steginga SK, Occhipinti S, Gardiner RAF, Yaxley J, Heathcote P. Prospective study of men's psychological and decision-related adjustment after treatment for localized prostate cancer. Urology. 2004 Apr;63(4):751–6.
- 31. Krebber AMH, Buffart LM, Kleijn G, Riepma IC, de Bree R, Leemans CR, et al. Prevalence of depression in cancer patients: a meta-analysis of diagnostic interviews and self-report instruments. Psychooncology. 2014 Feb;23(2):121–30.
- 32. Pasquini M, Biondi M. Depression in cancer patients: a critical review. Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health. 2007 Feb 8;3:2.
- 33. Bennett G, Badger TA. Depression in men with prostate cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2005;32(3):545–56.
- 34. Sharpley CF, Christie DRH. An analysis of the psychometric profile and frequency of anxiety and depression in Australian men with prostate cancer. Psychooncology. 2007 Jul;16(7):660–7.
- 35. Lintz K, Moynihan C, Steginga S, Norman A, Eeles R, Huddart R, et al. Prostate cancer patients' support and psychological care needs: survey from a non-surgical oncology clinic. Psychooncology. 2003 Dec;12(8):769–83.

- 36. Chambers SK, Lowe A, Hyde MK, Zajdlewicz L, Gardiner RA, Sandoe D, et al. Defining young in the context of prostate cancer. Am J Mens Health. 2015 Mar;9(2):103–14.
- 37. Ilie G. Prostate Cancer Patient Reported Outcomes Maritimes Survey (PCaPRO Maritimes) Preliminary Results [Internet]. Halifax, NS: Soillse Scientist Research; 2018 [cited 2019 May 25]. Available from: http://soillseprostatecancerqualityofliferesearch.che.dal.ca/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/AnnualReport_PCPRO_2018.pdf
- 38. DiMatteo MR, Lepper HS, Croghan TW. Depression is a risk factor for noncompliance with medical treatment: meta-analysis of the effects of anxiety and depression on patient adherence. Arch Intern Med. 2000 Jul 24;160(14):2101–7.
- 39. Prasad SM, Eggener SE, Lipsitz SR, Irwin MR, Ganz PA, Hu JC. Effect of depression on diagnosis, treatment, and mortality of men with clinically localized prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2014 Aug 10;32(23):2471–8.
- 40. Bill-Axelson A, Garmo H, Nyberg U, Lambe M, Bratt O, Stattin P, et al. Psychiatric treatment in men with prostate cancer--results from a nation-wide, population-based cohort study from PCBaSe Sweden. Eur J Cancer. 2011 Sep;47(14):2195–201.
- 41. Fang F, Keating NL, Mucci LA, Adami H-O, Stampfer MJ, Valdimarsdóttir U, et al. Immediate risk of suicide and cardiovascular death after a prostate cancer diagnosis: cohort study in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010 Mar 3;102(5):307–14.
- 42. Bill-Axelson A, Garmo H, Lambe M, Bratt O, Adolfsson J, Nyberg U, et al. Suicide risk in men with prostate-specific antigen-detected early prostate cancer: a nationwide population-based cohort study from PCBaSe Sweden. Eur Urol. 2010 Mar;57(3):390–5.
- 43. Jayadevappa R, Malkowicz SB, Chhatre S, Johnson JC, Gallo JJ. The burden of depression in prostate cancer. Psychooncology. 2012 Dec;21(12):1338–45.
- 44. Chambers SK, Hyde MK, Smith DP, Hughes S, Yuill S, Egger S, et al. New challenges in psycho-oncology research III: A systematic review of psychological interventions for prostate cancer survivors and their partners: clinical and research implications. Psychooncology. 2017;26(7):873–913.
- 45. Tutton M. Unmet need:' New program for men with prostate cancer shows promising results [Internet]. CTV News. 2019 [cited 2019 Mar 28]. Available from: https://www.ctvnews.ca/mobile/health/unmet-need-new-program-for-men-with-prostate-cancer-shows-promising-results-1.4328403

- 46. Déruaz-Luyet A, N'Goran AA, Senn N, Bodenmann P, Pasquier J, Widmer D, et al. Multimorbidity and patterns of chronic conditions in a primary care population in Switzerland: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2017;7(6):e013664.
- 47. Hoogwegt MT, Kupper N, Jordaens L, Pedersen SS, Theuns DA. Comorbidity burden is associated with poor psychological well-being and physical health status in patients with an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator. Europace. 2013;15(10):1468–74.
- 48. Fabbri E, Zoli M, Gonzalez-Freire M, Salive ME, Studenski SA, Ferrucci L. Aging and multimorbidity: new tasks, priorities, and frontiers for integrated gerontological and clinical research. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2015 Aug 1;16(8):640–7.
- 49. Bellizzi KM, Rowland JH. Role of comorbidity, symptoms and age in the health of older survivors following treatment for cancer. Aging Health 2007 Oct;3(5):625-635.
- 50. McDaid O, Hanly MJ, Richardson K, Kee F, Kenny RA, Savva GM. The effect of multiple chronic conditions on self-rated health, disability and quality of life among the older populations of Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland: a comparison of two nationally representative cross-sectional surveys. BMJ Open. 2013 Jun 21;3(6).
- 51. Liede A, Hallett DC, Hope K, Graham A, Arellano J, Shahinian VB. International survey of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) for non-metastatic prostate cancer in 19 countries. ESMO Open. 2016 Mar 1;1(2):e000040.
- 52. National Comprehensive Cancer Network Inc. (NCCN) Guidelines for Patients: Prostate Cancer [Internet]. Plymouth Meeting, PA: NCCN; 2018 [cited 2019 Apr 12]. Available from: https://www.nccn.org/patients/guidelines/prostate/41/index.html#zoom=z
- 53. Walker AE. Multiple chronic diseases and quality of life: patterns emerging from a large national sample, Australia. Chronic Illn. 2007 Sep;3(3):202–18.
- 54. Huang CQ, Dong BR, Lu ZC, Yue JR, Liu QX. Chronic diseases and risk for depression in old age: a meta-analysis of published literature. Ageing Res Rev. 2010 Apr; 9(2):131-41.
- 55. Fiske A, Wetherell JL, Gatz M. Depression in Older Adults. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. 2009;5:363–89.
- 56. Daskivich TJ, van de Poll-Franse LV, Kwan L, Sadetsky N, Stein DM, Litwin MS. From bad to worse: comorbidity severity and quality of life after treatment for early-stage prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 2010 Dec;13(4):320–7.

- 57. Karakiewicz PI, Bhojani N, Neugut A, Shariat SF, Jeldres C, Graefen M, et al. The effect of comorbidity and socioeconomic status on sexual and urinary function and on general health-related quality of life in men treated with radical prostatectomy for localized prostate cancer. J Sex Med. 2008 Apr;5(4):919–27.
- 58. Gacci M, Baldi E, Tamburrino L, Detti B, Livi L, De Nunzio C et al. Quality of life and sexual health in the aging of PCa survivors. Int J Endocrinol. 2014;2014:470592.
- 59. Nelson C, Mulhall J, Roth A. The association between erectile dysfunction and depressive symptoms in men treated for prostate cancer. J Sex Med. 2011 Feb 1;8:560–6.
- 60. Flint AJ, Merali Z, Vaccarino FJ. Improving quality of life: substance use and aging [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction; 2018 [cited 2019 Jan 5]. Available from: https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Substance-Use-and-Aging-Report-2018-en.pdf
- 61. Kuerbis A, Sacco P, Blazer DG, Moore AA. Substance abuse among older adults. Clin Geriatr Med. 2014 Aug;30(3):629–54.
- 62. Sharpley CF, Bitsika V, Christie DRH. Diagnosing "male" depression in men diagnosed with prostate cancer: the next step in effective translational psychooncology interventions? Psychooncology. 2014 Sep;23(9):1042–8.
- 63. Cavanagh A, Wilson CJ, Kavanagh DJ, Caputi P. Differences in the expression of symptoms in men versus women with depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2017;25(1):29-38.
- 64. Capella MDM, Adan A. The age of onset of substance use is related to the coping strategies to deal with treatment in men with substance use disorder. PeerJ. 2017;5:e3660.
- 65. Roth AJ, Weinberger MI, Nelson CJ. Prostate cancer: quality of life, psychosocial implications and treatment choices. Future Oncol Lond Engl. 2008 Aug;4(4):561–8.
- 66. Chhatre S, Metzger DS, Malkowicz SB, Woody G, Jayadevappa R. Substance use disorder and its effects on outcomes in men with advanced-stage prostate cancer. Cancer. 2014 Nov 1;120(21):3338–45.
- 67. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Alcohol (Canadian Drug Summary) [Internet]. Ottawa, ON: CCSA; 2017 [cited 2019 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.ccsa.ca/sites/default/files/2019-04/CCSA-Canadian-Drug-Summary-Alcohol-2017-en.pdf
- 68. De Nunzio C, Andriole GL, Thompson IM, Freedland SJ. Smoking and prostate cancer: a systematic review. Eur Urol Focus. 2015 Aug 1;1(1):28–38.

- 69. Hiatt RA, Anne Armstrong M, Klatsky AL, Sidney S. Alcohol consumption, smoking, and other risk factors and prostate cancer in a large health plan cohort in California (United States). Cancer Causes Control. 1994 Jan;5(1):66–72.
- 70. Middleton Fillmore K, Chikritzhs T, Stockwell T, Bostrom A, Pascal R. Alcohol use and prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2009 Feb;53(2):240–55.
- 71. Foerster B, Pozo C, Abufaraj M. Association of smoking status with recurrence, metastasis, and mortality among patients with localized prostate cancer undergoing prostatectomy or radiotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(7):953-961.
- 72. Farris MS, Courneya KS, Kopciuk KA, McGregor SE, Friedenreich CM. Post-diagnosis alcohol intake and prostate cancer survival: A population-based cohort study. Int J Cancer. 2018;143(2):253–62.
- 73. World Health Organization (WHO). Mental health of older adults [Internet]. WHO; 2017 Dec [cited 2019 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-of-older-adults
- 74. Divo MJ, Martinez CH, Mannino DM. Ageing and the epidemiology of multimorbidity. Eur Respir J. 2014 Oct;44(4):1055–68.
- 75. Mental Health Foundation. Mental health in later life [Internet]. Scotland; 2015 [cited 2019 Apr 13]. Available from: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/m/mental-health-later-life
- 76. Patten SB. Long-term medical conditions and major depression in the Canadian population. Can J Psychiatry. 1999 Mar;44(2):151-7.
- 77. Canadian Mental Health Association. The relationship between mental health, mental illness and chronic physical conditions [Internet]. Toronto, ON: CMHA; 2019 [cited 2019 Jun 18]. Available from: https://ontario.cmha.ca/documents/the-relationship-between-mental-health-mental-illness-and-chronic-physical-conditions/
- 78. Trautmann S, Rehm J, Wittchen H. The economic costs of mental disorders. EMBO Rep. 2016 Sep;17(9):1245–9.
- 79. Taitt HE. Global trends and prostate cancer: a review of incidence, detection, and mortality as influenced by race, ethnicity, and geographic location. Am J Mens Health. 2018 Nov;12(6):1807–23.
- 80. LeBlanc AG. Recent trends in prostate cancer in Canada. Health Rep. 2019;30(4):8.
- 81. Government of Canada. Action for Seniors 2016 report [Internet] Ottawa, ON; 2016 [cited 2019 Jun 8]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/programs/seniors-action-report.html#tc6

- 82. Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control. The Canadian Strategy for Cancer Control: A Cancer Plan for Canada [Internet] 2006 July [cited 2019 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.partnershipagainstcancer.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/canadian-strategy-for-cancer-control-a-cancer-plan-for-canada.pdf
- 83. Payne RA, Abel GA, Guthrie B, Mercer SW. The effect of physical multimorbidity, mental health conditions and socioeconomic deprivation on unplanned admissions to hospital: a retrospective cohort study. Can Med Assoc J. 2013 Mar 19;185(5):E221–8.
- 84. Read JR, Sharpe L, Modini M, Dear BF. Multimorbidity and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2017 15;221:36–46.
- 85. Fortin M, Lapointe L, Hudon C, Vanasse A, Ntetu AL, Maltais D. Multimorbidity and quality of life in primary care: a systematic review. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2004 Sep 20;2:51.
- 86. Spendelow JS, Eli Joubert H, Lee H, Fairhurst BR. Coping and adjustment in men with prostate cancer: a systematic review of qualitative studies. J Cancer Surviv. 2018;12(2):155–68.
- 87. Martinez P, Neupane SP, Perlestenbakken B, Toutoungi C, Bramness JG. The association between alcohol use and depressive symptoms across socioeconomic status among 40- and 45-year-old Norwegian adults. BMC Public Health. 2015 Nov 19;15.
- 88. Taylor G, McNeill A, Girling A, Farley A, Lindson-Hawley N, Aveyard P. Change in mental health after smoking cessation: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2014 Feb 13;348:g1151.
- 89. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Oremus M, Patterson C, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). Can J Aging. 2009 Sep;28(3):221-9.
- 90. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S. Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CSLA): Protocol [Internet] [cited 2019 Jan 5]. Available from: https://clsa-elcv.ca/doc/511
- 91. Kessler RC, Andrews G, Colpe LJ, Hiripi E, Mroczek DK, Normand SLT, et al. Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. Psychol Med. 2002 Aug;32(6):959–76.
- 92. Andresen EM, Malmgren JA, Carter WB, Patrick DL. Screening for depression in well older adults: evaluation of a short form of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale). Am J Prev Med. 1994 Apr;10(2):77–84.
- 93. Nguyen MT, Chan WY, Keeler C. The association between self-rated mental health status and total health care expenditure. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Sep;94(35):e1410.

- 94. Moor I, Spallek J, Richter M. Explaining socioeconomic inequalities in self-rated health: a systematic review of the relative contribution of material, psychosocial and behavioural factors. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2017;71(6):565–75.
- 95. Sakib MN, Shooshtari S, St. John P, Menec V. The prevalence of multimorbidity and associations with lifestyle factors among middle-aged Canadians: an analysis of Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging data. BMC Public Health. 2019 Dec;19(1):243.
- 96. Prados-Torres A, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Hancco-Saavedra J, Poblador-Plou B, van den Akker M. Multimorbidity patterns: a systematic review. J Clin Epidemiol. 2014 Mar 1;67(3):254–66.
- 97. Halpern-Manners A, Schnabel L, Hernandez EM, Silberg JL, Eaves LJ. The relationship between education and mental health: new evidence from a discordant twin study. Soc Forces. 2016 Sep 1;95(1):107–31.
- 98. Sareen J, Afifi TO, McMillan KA, Asmundson GJG. Relationship between household income and mental disorders: findings from a population-based longitudinal study. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2011 Apr;68(4):419–27.
- 99. Spiker RL. Mental health and marital status. In: The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society. American Cancer Society; 2014; p. 1485–9.
- 100. American Psychiatric Association. Mental health disparities: diverse populations [Internet]. Washington, DC; 2019 [cited 2019 May 2]. Available from: https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/cultural-competency/mental-health-disparities
- 101. Korn EL, Graubard BI. Analysis of health surveys. 1999. New York: Wiley.
- 102. White IR, Royston P, Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. Stat Med. 2011 Feb 20;30(4):377–99.
- 103. IBM [Internet] Armonk: NY; 2014. Method (Multiple Imputation) [cited 2019 Jul 28]. Available from: www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/en/sslvmb_24.0.0/spss/mva/idh_idd_mi_method.html
- 104. Enders CK, Gottschall AC. Multiple Imputation Strategies for Multiple Group Structural Equation Models. Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J. 2011 Jan 13;18(1):35–54.
- 105. Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). CLSA technical document [Internet] 2017 [cited 2019 Apr 3]. Available from: https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/1041

- 106. Prostate Cancer Canada. TrueNTH [Internet] [cited 2019 Jun 11]. Available from: https://app2.connectedwellness.com/start/pcc/index.html?gateway=truenth.ca&noc ache=1560294896199
- 107. Current Research Interested in Participating in Current Prostate Cancer Quality of Life Research? [Internet]. Soillse Scientist in Prostate Cancer Quality of Life Research Laboratory 2018 [cited 2019 Jun 11]. Available from: http://soillseprostatecancerqualityofliferesearch.che.dal.ca/wordpress/index.php/current-research/
- 108. Zvolensky MJ, Jardin C, Wall MM, Gbedemah M, Hasin D, Shankman SA, et al. Psychological distress among smokers in the United States: 2008-2014. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018 May 3;20(6):707–13.
- 109. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, Griffith L. The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) Report on Health and Aging in Canada: Findings from Baseline Data Collection 2010-2015 [Internet]. [cited 2019 May 6]. Available from: https://www.clsa-elcv.ca/doc/2639
- 110. Nunes BP, Flores TR, Mielke GI, Thumé E, Facchini LA. Multimorbidity and mortality in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2016 Dec;67:130–8.
- 111. Müezzinler A, Mons U, Gellert C, Schöttker B, Jansen E, Kee F, et al. Smoking and all-cause mortality in older adults: results from the CHANCES consortium. Am J Prev Med. 2015 Nov;49(5):e53–63.
- 112. Sadakane A, Gotoh T, Ishikawa S, Nakamura Y, Kayaba K. Amount and frequency of alcohol consumption and all-cause mortality in a Japanese population: the JMS cohort study. J Epidemiol. 2009 May 5;19(3):107–15.
- 113. Griffith LE, Gilsing A, Mangin D, Patterson C, van den Heuvel E, Sohel N, et al. Multimorbidity frameworks impact prevalence and relationships with patient-important outcomes. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2019 Apr 7.
- 114. Lang-Rollin I, Berberich G. Psycho-oncology. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2018 Mar;20(1):13–22.
- 115. Smith DJ, Court H, McLean G, Martin D, Langan Martin J, Guthrie B, et al. Depression and multimorbidity: a cross-sectional study of 1,751,841 patients in primary care. J Clin Psychiatry. 2014 Nov;75(11):1202–8.
- 116. HealthLink BC [Internet]. Substance use and mental health issues [cited 2019 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/health-topics/ug4809
- 117. Lucas R, McMichael AJ. Association or causation evaluating links between "environment and disease". Public Health Classic [Internet] 2005 [cited 2019 Jun 12]. Available from: https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/10/792.pdf

- 118. Parahoo K, McDonough S, McCaughan E, Noyes J, Semple C, Halstead EJ, et al. Psychosocial interventions for men with prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Dec 24;(12):CD008529.
- 119. Cheung KL, ten Klooster PM, Smit C, de Vries H, Pieterse ME. The impact of non-response bias due to sampling in public health studies: A comparison of voluntary versus mandatory recruitment in a Dutch national survey on adolescent health. BMC Public Health. 2017 Mar 23;17(1):276.
- 120. Addis ME, Mahalik JR. Men, masculinity, and the contexts of help seeking. Am Psychol. 2003 Jan;58(1):5–14.
- 121. Bullen K, Tod D. Men and masculinity: understanding the challenges for urological cancer. Trends Urol Mens Health. 2013;4(4):9–12.